



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1228 (1995) 125-164

Review

Photobiophysics and photobiochemistry of the heterogeneous phytochrome system

Vitally A. Sineshchekov *

Biology Department, M.V. Lomonosov Moscow State University, 119899 Moscow, Russia

Received 12 May 1994; accepted 12 November 1994

Keywords: Phytochrome; Heterogeneity; Excited state; Fluorescence; Photochemistry; Intermediate; Dark reaction

Contents

1.	Introduction	126								
2.	The phytochrome system									
	2.1. Phytochrome: discovery and major aspects in its investigation	127								
	2.2. Multiple types of phytochrome	127								
	2.3. Functional role of different phytochromes	129								
3.	The phytochrome molecule									
	3.1. The chromophore	129								
	3.2. The protein	131								
	3.3. Chromophore binding site and chromophore-apoprotein interaction	132								
	3.4. Functional role and biological activity of the protein domains	132								
4.	Excited states of the chromophore and photoprocesses in phytochrome	133								
	4.1. Light absorption	133								
	4.2. Fluorescence	134								
	4.3. Photoreaction	139								
	4.4. Photophysical and photochemical heterogeneity of phytochrome and the scheme of the photopro-									
	cesses	143								
5.	The nature of the heterogeneous red-absorbing phytochrome species									
	5.1. Different conformers of the chromophore	145								
	5.2. Different apoproteins	145								
6.	The far-red-absorbing phytochrome form	147								
7.	Transformations of the intermediates of the phytochrome cycle	147								
	7.1. Kinetics of the transformation	147								

Abbreviations: BR, bilirubin; BRh, bacteriorhodopsin; ΔA , difference absorption; ΔF , variable fluorescence; $\Delta \lambda$, halfband width; ϵ , absorption coefficient; E_a , activation energy; ϕ_F , fluorescence quantum yield; FR, far-red light; γ_1 , γ_2 , extent of the Pr phototransformation into lumi-R and Pfr at low and ambient temperatures, respectively; λ_a , λ_e , λ_m , wavelength of actinic, exciting and measured light; λ_{max} , position of maximum in spectrum; lumi-FR, lumi-R (I700, Lr), and meta-FR, meta-R (I_{b1}, P_{b1}), photoproducts and dark intermediates of the Pfr and Pr phototransformation, respectively; Lr_f, Lr_s, Lr_{vf}, subpopulations of Lr; P, phytochrome; P1 and P2, Type 1 and Type 2 P; phyA, phyB, phyC, phytochromes A, B and C; *phyA*, *phyB*, *phyC*, genes encoding for phyA, B, C; PHYA, PHYB, PHYC, apoproteins of phyA, B, C; PEC, phycoerythrocyanin; Pfr, far-red absorbing P form; Pr, red absorbing P form; Pr', Pr'' and Pr_f, Pr_{v5}, Pr_{v5}, Pr_{v5}, subpopulations of Pr; prelumi-R, unstable photoproduct, preceding lumi-R; R, red light; Rh, rhodopsin; τ_0 , radiative lifetime; τ_F , fluorescence lifetime; UV, ultraviolet; VLFR, LFR, HIR, very low and low fluence responses and high irradiance responses.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: vitally@phch.phys.msu.su.2 Fax: +7 095 9390023.

	7.2. Low temperature absorption spectroscopy of the intermediates	. 148				
	7.4. Effect of environmental factors.	. 150				
	7.5. Photoreactions of the intermediates and their functional implication	. 151				
8.	Structural aspects of the phytochrome photoconversion	. 151				
	8.1. Vibrational spectroscopy	. 151				
	8.2. Structural differences between the red- and far-red-absorbing phytochrome forms	. 152				
9	0 Photoprocessor in related compounds					
7.	9.1. Phycobiliproteins: photoreaction versus energy transfer.	. 155				
	9.2. The complex of bilirubin with human serum albumin	. 155				
10.	Comparative analysis of the photoprocesses in phytochromes and rhodopsins	. 155				
	10.1. Excited states, fluorescence and photoreactions of (bacterio)rhodopsin	. 155				
	10.2. Photocycles	. 156				
	10.3. Protein dynamics	. 157				
11.	Conclusion	. 157				
Ac	cnowledgements	. 158				
Re	erences	. 158				

1. Introduction

Plants possess a highly elaborate and specialized apparatus for light perception independent of photosynthetic processes. It enables them to perceive quantity and quality of light, direction of its propagation and polarization in a more than 8 decade range of fluence rate and in a wide spectral region from UV-B to infra-red, the ability comparable with the light perception in animals. The apparatus comprises at least three photoinformation systems which are characterized by the interval of maximum sensitivity: UV-B, UV-A/blue and red/far-red. In the first two, photoprocesses are mediated by cryptochromes – flavins and probably pterins [4,94,123,267–270], in the last, by phytochrome (P), a chromoprotein whose prosthetic group is open tetrapyrrole.

The function of the P system is based on the operation of the photocycle converting the initial dark-adapted form of the pigment into the physiologically active one. The latter initiates a series of transduction steps leading eventually to a great variety of the photoresponsive biochemical events which in their integrity determine the strategy of plant development in light conditions, i.e., photomorphogenesis. The relationship between the P photoconversions and physiological responses can be illustrated by the scheme:

$\Pr \stackrel{666 \text{ nm}}{\Leftrightarrow}_{730 \text{ nm}} \Pr \rightarrow \text{processes of photomorphogenesis and}$

photoregulation

Since the discovery of P by the Beltsville group more

than 40 years ago, there had been a dogma that one type of pigment molecule initiated all of the variety of the photomorphogenic and photoregulation responses. However, it is now becoming increasingly evident that it can be connected with the existence of multiple P's which differ in the structure of the apoprotein. This is the major issue in the current P research. We are trying to approach the problem mainly from the chromophoric side, which is also indicative of the heterogeneity of P species and which has not yet been discussed in detail. Detection of different P types, on the other hand, promises deeper insight into the nature of the initial photoprocesses and poses the question of the possible functional implication of the P heterogeneity already at the level of its photoconversion. This is another aspect of the present review. And finally, an effort to comparatively consider basic properties of the excited states and photoprocesses in P's and rhodopsins has been undertaken. The analogy of the two major types of photochemical pigment is obvious in many respects and their analyses could provide better understanding of the fundamental regularities of the photoprocesses in the two photoreceptor systems and of their evolution.

These considerations justify compilation of yet another review. However, due to the lack of space, the problem cannot be comprehensively dealt with in all its aspects and the choice of the material and the scope of the analysis of the recent literature is undoubtedly influenced by the author's interest and preferences. In order to enable those outside the field to enter into specialized discussions, I have incorporated in the text brief basic information and terminology on P. The reader is also referred to the relevant reviews [20,90,91,138,145–147,156,222,228,240, 243,244,251,252,306,313,314,320,321,347,360,361,368].

2. The phytochrome system

2.1. Phytochrome: discovery and major aspects in its investigation

2.1.1. Detection of phytochrome. The fact that the perception of light quality (and also quantity) is connected with the photochromicity of P, i.e., the ability to exist in two photointerconvertible forms - a red-absorbing form (Pr) and a far-red-absorbing form (Pfr) – was recognized by its discoverers more than 40 years ago [17-19] during the first, photophysiological period of the investigations. It was found that the action spectra of a number of photoresponses in plants (inhibition of flowering, stimulation of germination) had a maximum in the red region around 660 nm and that these responses could be reverted by the far-red illumination at 730 nm given after the red. These crucial observations led to a prediction that there is a photochromic pigment which is synthesized and remains in the dark in Pr and upon illumination is transformed into physiologically active Pfr form and back into initial state by far-red illumination.

This prediction was successfully realised in the discovery of reversible photoinduced absorption changes with the bands at 660 nm (negative upon red illumination) and at 730 nm (positive) and using this method of P assay the pigment was then extracted and characterized as a chromoprotein [31]. These findings predetermined the future success of research in the two major interrelated directions – investigation of (i) physicochemical properties of the extracted pigment (see below in detail) and (ii) of different photophysiological responses.

2.1.2. Different types of photoresponse in plants

These were classified by the quantity of light and concentration of Pfr [Pfr] which are necessary to initiate the reaction [145,275]. They are (i) very low fluence responses (VLFR) (fluences on the order 10^{-10} - 10^{-7} mol m^{-2} producing a relative Pfr concentration of 10^{-6} - 10^{-3}), (ii) low fluence responses (LFR) $(10^{-6}-10^{-3} \text{ mol m}^{-2})$ and 10^{-2} – 10^{-1}) and (iii) high irradiance responses (HIR) which are believed to be mediated by the rate of cycling between Pr and Pfr at different light intensities. HIR are distinguished also by the quality of sensitizing light: redand far-red-light-mediated, R-HIR and FR-HIR. Among the three types, only LFR shows the classical red-far-red reversibility matching the photochromicity of P. They are also distinguished by the time which is needed for their development: short-term reactions in the seconds time-scale and those which require hours and days. The complex phenomenon of the photoresponses is also complicated by the existence of non-photochemical reactions which are involved in the determination of [Pfr]: synthesis of Pr which is down-regulated by the appearance of Pfr, destruction of Pfr, and dark reversion of Pfr to Pr. Response

modes are different in etiolated and de-etiolated plants [184,314].

2.1.3. Phytochrome action: mechanisms of transduction

The transduction chain between the appearance of the physiologically active P form and the final responses remains the most elusive part of the light perception in plants. It is believed that the short-term phenomena develop on the biophysical and biochemical levels, while the long-term events involve the mechanism of gene expression (the membrane [185] and gene [191] hypotheses). In agreement with the membrane hypothesis, P, upon its transformation into Pfr, modifies membrane properties. There is evidence for the participation of G-proteins, Ca²⁺, calmodulin, protein kinases and inositol lipids in this process [37,67,104,233,234,236,237,360]. These components, known as second messengers, of the animal transduction mechanism are also likely to act in the photocontrol of gene expression. According to the recent data [203], signal transduction in tomato cells initially involves G-protein activation and then there are two different pathways - one pathway requires calcium and activated calmodulin, and can stimulate expression of photoregulated genes participating in the synthesis of some photosynthetic complexes. The other pathway, controlling, in particular, anthocyanin biosynthesis, does not require calcium. Involvement of more than one G-protein is suggested. Participation of cyclic GMP in the phytochrome-mediated signal transduction pathway was also recently reported [204]: cyclic GMP alone was able to trigger the production of antocyanins and in combination with calcium could induce the development of fully mature chloroplasts in the cell of a phytochromedeficient etiolated tomato mutant. It was demonstrated that cGMP and calcium act primarily by modulating gene expression. Control of light-regulated genes by P, which is the essence of the gene hypothesis, is likely to involve the binding of activators or repressors (protein factors, transacting elements) activated by P, to regulatory elements of the gene (cis-acting DNA sequence elements) [20,58,222,261]. It has been suggested recently (see [102] and the literature cited therein) that phosphorylation/dephosphorylation can play a role in the direct regulation of transcription via phosphorylation cascade activated by photoconversion of P as proposed in [304]. This theory is supported by two groups of facts: first, protein kinase activity has been found to be associated with purified P (probably, residing in a polypeptide that is tightly bound to P) and second, observation was made of fast photoinduced phosphorylation/dephosphorylation events in subcellular preparations (see [13,81,102] and the literature cited therein).

2.2. Multiple types of phytochrome

Heterogeneity of the pigment in the cell is shown by several lines of experiment.

2.2.1. Light-labile and light-stable pools

The kinetics of light-induced P destruction reveals two P pools which differ by the rate constant of dark destruction upon phototransformation of Pr into Pfr (light-labile and light-stable). P concentration which was measured with the use of difference absorption spectroscopy reaches its maximum in etiolated seedlings and drops down to approx. 1-3% of the initial level upon prolonged illumination [225]. The kinetics of the destruction is biexponential - the first part reflects the destruction of the bulk of the pigment (90-95%) with the half-time of approx. 20-40 min; the second, slow decrease of the minor part of the pigment with the half-time of several hours [27,108]. The light-labile species is abundant in etiolated tissues, while the light-stable type dominates in light-grown plants. The explanation for this difference could be sought either in different localization of the pigment in the cell or in different structures of the apoprotein (the chromophore is believed to be the same in all P's [222]).

2.2.2. Immunologically distinguishable phytochromes

The most important recent event in the P research is the discovery of the diverse P pools which are characterized by different structures of the apoprotein. The differences in the composition of the apoproteins were revealed with the use of immunochemical methods and molecular biology technique (see below). The existence of different P's (P1 or Type 1 and P2 or Type 2, predominant in etiolated and light-grown seedlings, respectively) was shown with the aid of antibodies [1,214,215,274,342]. Recent investigations [363-365] reveal an even more complex picture: three P's are distinguished in oats which have monomeric masses of 124 kDa ('etiolated' P) and 125 and 123 kDa ('green' P's). In addition to the molecular mass, there are other differences in the physicochemical characteristics of the extracted Type 1 and Type 2 P's (see for review [90,91,222] and below).

2.2.3. Soluble and bound phytochrome pools

The problem of P heterogeneity with respect to its localization in the cell is controversial (see [138] for a review). Immunovisualization experiments suggest that P is soluble and localized in cytoplasm [215,216]. However, physiological studies support the hypothesis that there is a membrane-bound fraction of P [103,105,185,236,237]. Biochemical experiments which reveal a certain amount, up to 15%, of P in association with membrane proteins (see [164,336] and the literature cited therein) support this conclusion. It is tempting to assume that the protein which binds to P might be a receptor protein. Recently, Sommer and Song [317] suggested that G-protein can be associated with P and protein kinase activity of P is believed to be connected with a protein bound to P (see [13] and above).

In the works of Pratt and coworkers (see [215,216] for review) it was shown that the bulk soluble P in the Pr form is homogeneously distributed in the cytoplasm. However, its distribution changes within seconds from diffuse to discretely localized upon transformation of Pr into Pfr. Sequestered P is connected with unidentified 200–400 nm subcellular particles and it was believed that the photoinduced association was physiologically significant and connected either with the light perception or destruction of the pigment. Recent investigations [48] of P sequestering in soybean, which requires a few minutes instead of seconds in oat, i.e., much longer than the time of fast photoresponses, put, however, at question the hypothesis that this process is a primary step in the mode of action of P (at least, in the fast responses).

2.2.4. Different phytochrome gene products

Molecular biology experiments revealed different genes encoding for different P's in a number of plant species (see [222,223] for review). They include pea [1], Arabidopsis [272], rice [60], oat [219], potato [106], Nicotiana tabacum [149]. In particular, in Arabidopsis, five P genes were detected, phyA through phyE [46,272] (for phytochrome nomenclature, see [224]). With the two novel Arabidopsis phytochrome genes, phyD and phyE, isolated and described in [46], the primary structure of the complete phytochrome family of this plant is known. PhyA encodes the etiolated-tissue Type 1 P and it is shown also that phyA is down regulated by P upon illumination while phyB (and phyC) are constitutively expressed irrespective of light treatment [60,149,272]. It is believed in this context that the products of different genes can be correlated with the labile and stable P pools. The picture, however, seems to be more complex: one cannot exclude the possibility that the light-labile P (Type 1) and light-stable P (Type 2) could be also the result of the posttranslational pigment modification because it is shown that phyA is present and functional in the light-grown plants, too (see [1,132,315] and below).

2.2.5. Spectroscopically and photochemically distinguishable phytochrome species

Two P's (Pr' and Pr") were detected in the cell with the use of fluorescence spectroscopy and photochemistry [280,299,302,303]. They were correlated with the light-labile bulk and light-stable minor pools of P [295]. Recent data [280,281,288] show that Pr' and Pr" reside within phyA and could be attributed to the soluble and membrane-associated P species. Moreover, Pr' itself was found to be heterogeneous: the observed subspecies were attributed to different conformations of the Pr' chromophore [282,303]. The properties of the heterogeneous phyA populations will be discussed in more detail below.

Thus, we can conclude using the words of H. Smith [306] that: "phytochrome is not a single photoreceptor, as had been assumed since its discovery in 1959, but a family of photoreceptors... This realization marks a watershed in

phytochrome research... We can now speculate that the many different modes of phytochrome action, distinguishable on physiological criteria, may be reconciled on the basis that each phytochrome has a different physiological function."

2.3. Functional role of different phytochromes

A predominant tendency in the recent works is an attempt to determine the physiological roles of different P's with the use of P mutants and transgenic plants. It is obvious that the most direct approach to their assessment is to obtain the mutants defective by one or another P and to analyze their phenotype. This approach has shown that different phytochromes have distinct functions.

2.3.1. Photomorphogenic mutants

In the recent years a number of photomorphogenic mutants were found, i.e., of the mutants with anomalous responses to the light stimulus (see reviews [147,150,228, 347]).

Phytochrome mutants. The P mutants, however, comprise only part of them. Moreover, within the P mutants there is a group deficient in the chromophore biosynthesis and chromophore incorporation into the apoprotein and thus deficient in all P's (chromophore mutants) and a group of mutants defective in one or another gene encoding for different apoproteins (apoprotein mutants).

The chromophore mutants with etiolated phenotype were isolated in tomato -(au) mutant [2,208,271,337]; in Arabidopsis thaliana -hy1, hy2, hy6 mutants [44,151,210]; in tobacco - mutant of Nicotiana plumbaginifolia, eti 1 [152].

The apoprotein mutants are selected by the immunochemical or molecular biology analysis along with the phenomenological responses. The following are the mutants which are believed to be deficient in phyA: fhy2[370,374], fre [197,226] and hy8 [209] mutants of Arabidopsis and eti2 mutant of Nicotiana plumbaginifolia [152]. The cucumber lh [3,151], Arabidopsis hy3 [194,315] and Brassica rapa [63,64] mutants and ma3R strain in sorghum [42] are defective in phyB protein.

The transduction chain mutants. The second type of the photomorphogenic mutants is due to the abnormalities in the transduction chain. These are the mutants (i) which display de-etiolation in darkness resulting in short hypocotyls, expanded leaves and accumulation of anthocyanin (det [32,45] and constitutively photomorphogenic cop [61,62,366] mutants in Arabidopsis and lip mutant in pea [88]) and (ii) which have etiolated phenotype when grown in light (lv mutant of pea [198]).

2.3.2. Transgenic plants

Two approaches prove to be also very useful for elucidation of functions of different P's: first, modification of the level of synthesis of a particular constitutive P species [115,342] and second, overexpression of cloned genes in transgenic plant [21-23,143,228]. The latter promises to be useful especially in studying the biochemistry of the pigment (see below the functions of different domains).

2.3.3. Phenomenology of the photoresponses

Two phenomena are currently being intensively investigated in which different P's play different roles: de-etiolation and shade avoidance syndromes. In the de-etiolation and seedling development, the function of P is to perceive the light independently of its spectral composition (VLFR) while ecologically important perception of the proximity of surrounding plants inducing shade avoidance syndrome is mediated by P through recognition of the light quality in the red and far-red regions (R/FR ratio perception) (LFR) [308,310].

Analysis of the growing number of publications on mutants and transgenic plants reveals a complex picture of action and interaction of the two (and even more) P's clearly showing that different P's play different roles in photoregulation in plants [59,101,187,188,194,209,229, 307,315,352,371-374]. In short, the P functions can be summarized as follows. PhyA promotes germination in FR and plays a major role in de-etiolation [22,144,176,195, 272]. It has only minor influence on the R/FR ratio perception [312,374] and in general makes a higher contribution to VLFR than to LFR [34,35]. According to [372] phyA appears to be is dispensable in white-light-grown plants although there are data that phyA is also functional in light-grown plants even at its low levels found under these conditions [106,132,133] and can activate transduction pathway(s) involved in flowering [6,132]. PhyB promotes germination in the dark, but inhibits germination in FR, regulates gravitropism [175], plays a role in cell elongation in response to light and chlorophyll accumulation [43]. It is necessary for the R/FR ratio perception and shade avoidance and for the end-of-day FR response [187,229-231,312,374]. PhyB is involved in the flowering response [6,43,101,369]. PhyA and phyB appear to have complementary functions for some processes (germination, seedling development, flowering), they act synergistically or in the opposite directions via different signal pathways and could be localized in different tissues [43,196,212,226,227].

3. The phytochrome molecule

Unique photochemical properties of phytochrome are due to the specific state of the chromophore within the chromophore locus of the apoprotein.

3.1. The chromophore

From two experimental lines – the 'classical' analytical micromethod, which includes analysis of the chromophore

degradation products and its complete synthesis from the end products of degradation – it could be concluded that the chromophore is an open linear tetrapyrrole with the system of the conjugated double bonds (Fig. 1), see for review [238,239,243,244]. In [29] isomerization was considered as a possible mechanism of the photoreaction in the chromophore and later on it was shown using ¹H-NMR spectroscopy [245,340] and later on Raman spectroscopy [83,85] and difference infrared spectroscopy [277] that the differences between the chromophores in the Pr and Pfr forms can be considered as a result of isomerization about C15 double bond between rings C and D: 15Z and 15E configurations, respectively. It is believed that the configuration of the other two bonds (between the rings A and B and B and C) is the same in the both forms (5Z and 10Z) [238], although there is no definitive proof for this [243]. Moreover, Tokutomi et al. [226] have recently developed a chromophore model based on the absorption and linear dichroism experiments on 114 kDa pea Pr, which has C_5 -Z, syn, C_{10} -E, anti and C_{15} -Z, syn configuration.

Phytochromobilin is synthesized by reduction of biliverdin IX- α in vivo in the process of formation and degradation of tetrapyrroles (heme) [28,79,80]. With the use of the *E. coli* and yeast experimental systems to express and assemble photoactive holophytochrome, it has been shown that the chromophore binds to the apoprotein autocatalytically [51,52,55-57,79,157,159,162,167,338, 339,362] and it is accepted that the chromophore is the



Fig. 1. Structure of the phytochrome chromophore in chromopeptides and native protein. (A) Cyclic-helical conformation in the peptides; solid lines: Pr form; dashed lines: Pfr form (V at C18 stands for the vinyl group, $CH = CH_2$; in C-phycocyanin, in this position is the ethyl group, CH_2-CH_3). (B) Extended comformation in the native protein, left: Pr form, right: Pfr form. The arrows indicate the movement of ring D and of the methine bridge for conrotation of bonds C14-C15 and C15-C16. (After [241,243]). The mechanism of the photoreaction (C) suggesting overall conservation of the semi-extended conformation of the chromophore has been recently presented in [321] based on the molecular modeling of phytochrome [205].

same in different P's [222,368]. Kunkel et al. [155] have shown that the light-stable tobacco P apoprotein (PHYB) expressed in yeast, can incorporate phycocyanobilin to give a photoreversible adduct. Similarity of the rate constants for the reconstitution of phyB and of light-labile phyA from oat [167] suggests that the mechanism of chromophore attachment is the same for PHYA and PHYB.

3.2. The protein

3.2.1. Primary structure

Primary structure was determined by analyzing the sequence of the amino acid residues of the apoprotein and of the nucleotides of the corresponding genes for more than 10 plant species. Molecular characterization of the polypeptides encoded by phyB and phyC was carried out on the basis of the analysis of respective cDNAs (see [222] for a review). PhyA, B and C include a polypeptide of about 1100 amino acid residues (molecular mass of about 124 kDa). The sequences of the three P's differ considerably, homology between them for one and the same species (Arabidopsis) is approx. 50%, while higher degree of homology is observed for the same P's in different plant species (65-80% identity for PHYA and 75% for PHYB [222] or even higher as revealed in [149]: PHYB identity of tobacco to PHYB of potato, 92.3%. Two novel Arabidopsis phytochrome genes, phyD and phyE, have been isolated and described recently [46]. The phyD- and phyE-encoded proteins are similar in size to the other phytochrome apoproteins and show similarity along their entire lengths. The PHYD and PHYE proteins are more closely related to phyB than to phyA or phyC and phyB and phyD show greater than 80% amino acid sequence identity. The recent data obtained on tomato and sorghum [218] indicate that the phy gene family in angiosperms might not be highly conserved, and that it might be more complex in some cases than that described for Arabidopsis: there is evidence for at least seven phy genes in tomato.

The distribution of the hydrophilic and hydrophobic residues in the polypeptide chain, where hydrophilic charged residues dominate, suggests that the pigment is water-soluble cytosolic and not an integral membrane holoprotein. This fact, however, does not exclude peripheral interaction of P with membranes. In the C-terminal part of the pigment, there is a highly amphiphilic region between residues 1081 and 1120 [138,211] and it is also shown that the N-terminal chain forms amphiphilic α -helix [92,206,207]. It is suggested [321] that either or both of the amphiphilic terminal segments could participate in the interaction of phytochrome with membrane.

3.2.2. Secondary structure

In holoprotein, secondary structure includes α -helices (approx. 50%), random coils (aperiodic) (25–30%), 20–25% β -turns and low content of β -sheets [36,316,320].

This is consistent with the results on UV resonance Raman spectroscopy [190,348], which show very small amount of β -sheet structure. However, these data are at variance with the secondary structure predictions by the Chou-Fasman and Garnier-Osguthorpe-Robson methods, by which a substantial proportion of β -sheets is obtained [211,320]. In these works, the failure of the two theoretical methods is considered to be the result of moderate success of the predictions in general and interactions between the chromophore and apoprotein modifying the apoprotein structure: there is evidence that apoprotein contains much higher proportion of β -sheet than holoprotein [93,316].

3.2.3. Tertiary structure

Biochemical and immunochemical investigations suggest that the P molecule in vitro is a dimer consisting of two identical subunits. Each subunit in its turn comprises two main domains [135]: the globular N-terminus domain of 70 kDa and the C-terminus domain of 55 kDa containing, respectively, the chromophore binding site and the dimerization site [69]. The two domains are connected by the segment sensitive to the proteolytic enzymes. Within the N-terminus domain, there is a subdomain with molecular mass of 10 kDa, which itself contains the sites which are sensitive to the proteolytic attacks [162]. Sequential cleavage of the 6 kDa and 4 kDa fragments from the N-terminus of the native 124 kDa P gives 118 and 114 kDa 'large' P's and the following cleavage of the 55 kDa from the C termius, 60 kDa 'small' P [137,353]. Several separable carboxy-terminal domains were identified by [39]; see below. Structural content of the P domains, which is important for the tertiary structure formation, was estimated by [232] on the basis of the amino acid sequences of different P's.

3.2.4. Quaternary structure

The X-ray crystallography data on P is absent and the structure was visualized with the use of electron microscopy (rotary-shadowed preparations) [134] and X-ray scattering under small angles [343]. The model for the intact dimer of pea P was constructed in [199], see Fig. 2a. It has an 'Y' shape with joint C-terminal segments and separated N-terminal segments and a two-fold symmetry axis. A model including noncovalent interactions was proposed for possible dimer contact area in [232]. Tokutomi et al. [346] put forward a model based on linear dichroism experiments [344] for the structure and orientation of Pr chromophores in the dimeric molecular model of Pr as shown in Fig. 2b. Amino acid sequences of phyA, phyB and phyC reveal a general identity of the distribution of the hydrophilic and hydrophobic residues what suggests a similar three-dimensional structure of their molecules [222,272]. In addition to the above biochemical data, indirect physiological evidence is obtained in vivo [26,350,351] also suggesting the existence of phytochrome as a dimer.

3.3. Chromophore binding site and chromophoreapoprotein interaction

A single bilin chromophore of the P is covalently bound with cysteine-323 (in *Avena*) in the hydrophobic pocket within the N-terminal part of the peptide. The segment of the peptide, where the chromophore is located, is between two strongly hydrophobic regions and it is relatively inaccessible to the external hydrophilic medium [74,100,318,330,358]. The chromophore interacts with the N-terminus peptide chain and the 6–10 kDa subdomain is important for stabilization of the chromophore in the apoprotein [137,355,356]. Denaturing of the pigment leads to the loss of the photochemical activity and substantial changes of its spectroscopic properties [239,243].

Rüdiger [240] deduces three major factors, which determine the spectroscopic properties and photoactivity of the native P, from (i) spectroscopic data (see below), (ii) the amino acid sequence adjacent to the P chromophore and (iii) the analogy with phycocyanin, which contains almost



Fig. 2. Dimeric molecular model for pea phytochrome 1 in the Pr form [199] (a) and images of the Pr chromophore [346] (b). A and B in (a) indicate the N-terminal 59 kDa chromophoric and the C-terminal 55 kDa domains; A through D in (b) indicate the four pyrrole rings in the chromophore of phytochrome. (From [346]).

the same chromophore (ethyl group in phycocyanobilin and vinyl in phytochromobilin at C18) and for which the data on crystallography and X-ray scattering were obtained. They are: (1) stretching the chromophore; (2) protonation in the Pr form; and (3) charged groups on the protein residing nearby the chromophore. The stretched conformation is to be provided by the interaction between the tetrapyrrole and the amino acid residues. The covalent bond of the apoprotein with the ring A and ionic interaction between the arginine and propionic side chain of the ring B can be considered as the points of fixation for the rings A and B. The positive charge of the protonated phytochromobilin at ring B (at least in the Pr form) could be balanced by the negatively charged aspartate or glutamate. At this point the analogy between P and phycocyanin is likely to come to its end because rings C and D are fixed in phycocyanin while in P there is room and freedom for their movement to allow photoinduced conrotation about the C14-C15 and C15-C16 bonds. A model of the phytochrome chromophore binding pocket also based on the X-ray crystal structure of C-phycocyanin has been produced recently by Parker et al. [205]. It is suggested, using the numbering of the Avena sequence with chromophore bound to Cys-323, that Arg-318, Ala-319, the methylene of Ser-322, Leu-325, and Tyr-327 form a pocket in which one side of the chromophore is anchored hydrophobically, covalently, and electrostatically from several directions. The other side of the chromophore lacks hydrogen-bond donors and is involved only in van der Waals contact with the peptide segment.

3.4. Functional role and biological activity of the protein domains

Structure-function relationship of the P molecule is being effectively investigated by the analysis of the properties of gene engineered P and transgenic plants expressing mutated P (see for review [41,92]).

3.4.1. The N-terminal domain

Deforce et al. [57] have shown using in vitro assembly of apophytochrome and apophytochrome deletion mutants expressed in yeast with phycocyanobilin that truncation of the N-terminal tail to residue 46 is not critical to bilin attachment, but a deletion mutant lacking 222 amino acids from N terminus failed to yield holophytochrome. At the same time, deletion of the entire C terminus (to residue 548) did not interfere with bilin incorporation and red-farred photoreversibility. Experiments on single amino acid replacements of conserved residues in the vicinity of chromophore-binding Cys-323 have shown that all mutants incorporated the chromophore with varying efficiencies [55]. It was concluded that residues substituted at Asp-309, Arg-318, His-321, and His-326 were indirectly involved in the catalysis of chromophore ligation. However, the His-324 mutants were severely affected in their chromophore

binding efficiency and in the photoreversibility of the reconstituted proteins suggesting an intimate involvement of this residue in the catalitic and photochemical processes [55,321]. Experiments on transgenic tobacco expressing a number of truncated oat P's A have also shown [39] that the N-terminal residues between the residues 70 and 398 are necessary for chromophore attachment and residues between 399 and 652, for spectral and photochemical integrity. Overexpression of the 68 kDa N-terminal domain containing chromophore leads to the accumulation of the polypeptide, which retains photochemical activity, but does not lead to the biological action - to the appearance of the phenotype with the shortened hypocotyl in Arabidopsis [20,23]. At the same time it is believed that certain segments of the N-terminal domain participate in the photobiological act. It was shown that the deletion of the 6 kDa segment in the overexpressed oat P, which mediates the light induced conformation changes, resulted in the loss of the physiological activity in the transgenic tobacco plants [40]. On the other hand, rice phyA in which 10 serine residues in the N-terminal domain were substituted for alanine residues had spectroscopic and photochemical properties indistinguishable from the wild-type pigment, but at the same time higher biological activity when expressed in transgenic tobacco plants [333].

3.4.2. The C-terminal domain

The fact that the N-terminal domain alone is not physiologically functional [20,23] suggests that missing segments of the C-terminal dimerization domain are needed for the correct photobiological activity. It was shown that the sequences between 919 and 1093 are essential for dimerization and 35 residues at the C-terminus, for biological activity [39]. Edgerton and Jones [70] have demonstrated that subunit dimerization interactions in the C-terminal domain of P involves sequences between amino acids 599 and 683 and a subset of this dimerization region, 623-673, was also shown. Dehesh et al. [117] have found on hy8 long hypocotyl mutants of Arabidopsis defective in responsiveness to prolonged far-red light (FR-HIR) and selectively deficient in functional P A that glycine-727 in the C-terminal domain, which is invariant in all sequenced P's, has a function important to the regulatory activity of P A, but not to photoperception.

Recently, Boylan et al. [21] have identified three spatially discrete regulatory domains in P which coordinate the photoregulatory activity of phyA in *Arabidopsis* and which are belived to be necessary for different functions: (i) the chromophore-bearing N-terminus domain between residues 533 and 616, for the light-induced interaction, but not for the completion of productive interactions with transduction chain components; (ii) the C-terminal domain between residues 617 and 1129, for completion of productive interactions under all irradiation conditions; and (iii) N-terminal 52 amino acids, for completion of productive interactions only under far-red high-irradiance conditions. Thus, multiple sites in the P A molecule are essential for its physiological functions and its different parts could be responsible for different phenomenological responses.

4. Excited states of the chromophore and photoprocesses in phytochrome

In this section, spectroscopic properties of phytochrome and the processes of generation and relaxation of the excited states will be considered.

4.1. Light absorption

P in its two forms is characterized by high efficiency of the absorption in the red and near-infrared region of the spectrum and relatively low absorption in the region shorter than 500 nm. Registration and interpretation of the absorption spectra of the native P in the cell is hampered by its very low concentration, high lability, high light scattering of the plant tissues and the presence in the tissue of other pigment which effectively absorb (and fluoresce) in the red region, especially of (proto)chlorophyll(ide). Photochromicity of the pigment allows, however, registration of the in vivo absorption spectra in the difference regime.

4.1.1. Etiolated Type 1 phytochrome

The pigment which is the closest, by its absorption spectrum, to the native P in the cell is evidently the full length 124 kDa species [36,40,162,201,354-357]. This is shown by the similarity of the difference absorption spectra obtained for the in vivo P and of the extracted pigment. The absorption spectra of P in mono- and dicots have their maximum in the Pr form at 665-666 nm, a shoulder at 608 nm and a small maximum in the Soret band at 379 nm. The maxima in the Pfr form are, respectively, at 730 nm and 400 nm and the band at 673 nm is likely to belong to Pr because in the absolute absorption spectrum of Pfr, which is obtained by the subtraction of the spectrum of Pr, the shoulder at 673 nm is absent or very weak (see Fig. 3) [162,355-357]. Proteolytic cleavage of the 6 kDa Nterminus segment leads to a small short wavelength shift of the absorption spectra (by 3-4 nm): the red maximum is at 662 nm and 726 nm in the Pr and Pfr forms, respectively [40,213,248,341,355-357]. Further cleavage of the molecule does not change the spectrum, the maxima in the 'small' P (definition of 'small' and 'large' P, see above) are at 662-665 and 724-726 nm [31]. Absorption coefficients in the red band obtained by different groups [162,213,214,236,341,355-357] vary within approx. 70-130 and 40-50 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ for Pr and Pfr, respectively. There is practically no difference in the coefficients for native 124 kDa and 118/114 kDa P [355-357]. Oscillator strength (f) of the different absorption bands determined on 'large' rye P at room temperature was 0.33 (main band at 660 nm), 0.25 (606 nm) and 0.47 (380 nm) for Pr and



Fig. 3. Initial (1, 2), difference (3) and absolute (1, 4) absorption spectra of 124 kDa *Avena* phytochrome in the Pr (1) and Pfr (4) forms. Initial spectra were measured after far-red (1) and red (2) illumination. Difference spectrum (3) is spectrum (1) minus spectrum (2). Initial spectrum (1)represents absolute spectrum of Pr because practically all phytochrome is in the Pr form after far-red illumination; the absolute Pfr spectrum (4)was calculated from spectrum (2) after correction for incomplete photoconversion of Pr to Pfr assuming relative Pfr content of 0.86 at photoequilibrium. (The spectra from [356,357] are presented as in [238].)

0.20 (720 nm), 0.22 (660 nm) and 0.44 (390 nm) for Pfr [324]. The oscillator strength ratio of the red and Soret bands, which is approx. unity, suggests an extended or semiextended conformation of the chromophore in the pigment. Freezing of the sample (to 80–110 K), as shown on the 114 kDa P of pea [248], leads to a bathochromic shift of the band (from 665 to 671 nm in Pr and from 725 to 731 in Pfr), to a small increase of the absorption coefficient and to the narrowing of the bands, so that the oscillator strength changes insignificantly: it increases 1.06-times upon lowering the temperature from 20 to -190° C. In the cells of etiolated plants, freezing causes a 10 nm shift from 660 nm to 670 nm and from 730 to 740 nm [331]. No gross differences in the absorption spectra were found between the Pr forms in D₂O or H₂O [247].

Linear dichroism spectra. For Pr of 114 kDa pea P negative linear dichroism was revealed with the use of the method of compressed gel while Pfr showed positive signal [344,346]. Magnitude of the reduced dichroism (RD), which was measured as $(A_{par} - A_{perp})/A_{iso}$ (par and perp stand for parallel and perpendicular polarization with respect to the stretching axis, iso, for unstretched gel and unpolarized light), linearly depended on the extent of stretching and was below 0.17 for Pr and 0.10 for Pfr. The two absorption spectra in the Pr form for the two directions of the polarization were identical by their form to the spectrum measured in unpolarized light in the region from 500 to 700 nm, suggesting that the band at 608 nm is a

vibrational satellite of the main red maximum in the Pr form. This conclusion is, however, at variance with the view [324] accepted in the literature that the band at 608 nm belongs to the second electronic transition, Q_x (see below). The spectra of circular dichroism in the chromophore absorption region have a strong negative band for Pr and much weaker positive signal for Pfr. Optical activity is interpreted as the result of the chromophore chirality and/or the induced optical activity due to the tight binding of the chromophore to the apoprotein [311,324] (see below in more detail).

4.1.2. Type 2 phytochrome

The data on green-tissue Type 2 P are rather controversial. Absorption spectrum of the Type 2 P obtained from the light grown pea seedlings has the maximum at 667 nm for Pr and at 724 nm for Pfr [1]. In the difference absorption spectrum the extrema are at 665 and 726 nm and the ratio of the bands ($\Delta Ar / \Delta Afr$) is 1.04. These parameters are close to those observed for the Type 1 P with M.M. 114/118 kDa ('large' P). On the other hand, Tokuhisa et al. [342] have obtained a different absorption spectrum of P in green plant tissues of oats. The red maximum was shifted to 652 nm in the difference spectrum with an isosbestic point at 681 nm, i.e., 14 and 8 nm to the blue as compared with those in the difference spectra of P in etiolated oats [355]. The blue shift of the λ_{max} was detected in the light-grown seedlings [97,129,131]. Shimazaki and Pratt [274] have also shown on etiolated and green seedlings that the two pools of P differ not only by the immunochemical properties, but also by their absorption spectra.

4.2. Fluorescence

4.2.1. Detection of phytochrome fluorescence

Hendricks et al., [109] have reported the observation of P fluorescence in leaves of etiolated bean seedlings and in extracts shortly after the discovery of the pigment itself. In the low-temperature excitation spectrum for the emission beyond 690 nm, a small maximum at 670 nm was measured which was attributed to P. The authors did not, however, present the evidence to this assignment what was especially necessary because of a very low abundance of P in the cell and existence of the low-temperature fluorescence of etiolated leaves in the region beyond 650 nm belonging to protochlorophyll (PChl) and its aggregated longer wavelength species (PChl_{682/669}, PChl_{692/673}, where the numbers are positions of emission/absorption maxima) and to the intermediates of chlorophyll biosynthesis [179-182,305]. This complexity of the red emission of etiolated tissues probably explains the fact that until recently there were no reliable data on P fluorescence in the cell.

At the same time, investigations of P fluorescence were extensively carried out on extracted and purified P: on



Fig. 4. Fluorescence of phytochrome in the Pr form in stems of etiolated pea seedlings. Emission spectra under monochromatic excitation at $\lambda_e = 630$ nm (1, 2): (1) 77 K; (2) 200 K. Excitation spectra, emission wavelength monitored, $\lambda_m = 700$ nm (1'-3'): (1') 77 K; (2') 200 K; (3') spectrum (1') calculated in the region 350–500 nm with due consideration of green background fluorescence with excitation maximum at 420 nm, calculation procedure based on different temperature dependence of the bands at 420 and 670 nm see in [297]. (From [297,302]).

'small' [53,109], 'large' [110,113,247,322-326,367] and native pigment [25,121,126,173,192,329]. Emission [25,53,110,113,173,193,247,289,325] and excitation [109,110,289,325] spectra of Pr, quantum yields [25,113,289,323-325,367] and lifetimes [25,113,121,173, 193,247,326,329,367] were determined. Dependence of the fluorescence characteristics on such factors as molecular weight of the pigment [326,367], temperature [323,326], viscosity of the medium [329], deuteration [25,193,247], the wavelength of fluorescence measurement and excitation [110] were followed. However, despite considerable experimental efforts in this direction, results obtained by various research groups differ in many ways. One of the reasons may be modification of the pigment during isolation and purification. In this context, the necessity arises for investigation of P in vivo without violation of the integrity of the cell.

Fluorescence of P in vivo was detected in the author's group in etiolated seedlings of monocots and dicots [297–299]. We have tackled the problem from two sides. First, the yield of the fluorescence of the pigments in the cell was increased by deep freezing (to 77 K), while the input of the background fluorescence of (proto)chlorophyll(-ide) was minimized by (i) using those parts of etiolated plant tissues which contain very low amount of background pigments – coleoptiles, stems, roots (instead of leaves) – and (ii) by exciting and monitoring fluorescence in the region of preferential absorbance and emission of P. Second, experimental efforts have been undertaken to identify the observed red fluorescence and to prove that it indeed belongs to P. From these experiments, the method of fluorescence investigation of P in intact cells has been

developed [296,300], whose sensitivity is very high, better than 1 ng, which is comparable with the sensitivity of the immunochemical method [214] and much higher than that of the conventional difference absorption technique.

The attribution of the red emission to Pr (Fig. 4) has been shown in [289,297–299,302] by: (1) close similarity of the fluorescence characteristics of the P in the etiolated seedlings and of the native 124 kDa pigment extracted from them (Fig. 5); (2) close correlation of the fluorescence intensity and the P content determined with the use of difference absorption spectroscopy and the absence of such correlation with (proto)chlorophyll contents as shown



Fig. 5. Low-temperature (85 K) emission (1,2, $\lambda_e = 630$ nm) and excitation (1',2', $\lambda_m = 720$ nm) fluorescence spectra of the red phytochrome form in the cells of coleoptiles of etiolated oat seedlings (1,1') and 124 kDa phytochrome isolated from them (2,2') [289].

Table 1Fluorescence characteristics of Pr in vitro

conditions $\frac{1}{400}$ $\frac{1}{100}$ $\frac{1}{$	Phytochrome size (kDa), plant,	Fluorescence							
emiss λ_{mx} (m) equat yield (x 10 ²) lifetime (x 10 ²) multide (x 10 ²) emission λ_{mx} (x 10 ³) emission λ_{mx} (x 10 ³) Small, pc. 30 67 80 100 53 Small, pc. 71 672 80 100 53 Small, pc. 208 K 200 200 100 100 Large 208 K 200 53 500 100 Large 208 K 100 53 153 45 ± 10 100 Large 275 K 15 45 ± 10 100 100 100 Large 275 K 15 45 ± 10 100 100 100 100 Large 275 K 15 45 ± 10 100 1	conditions	stationary			time-resolved				
Small, bear, 77 K 690 670 [109] Small, pro, 17 672 50 [53] Small, pro, 17 672 670 [53] Jong, 170, 298 K 800 [322] Large 208 K 200 (324) Jong, 170, 298 K 700–860 [324] Jong, 298 K 200 (37) Jarge 278 K 2.0 45 ± 10 [367] Large 278 K 2.0 45 ± 10 [367] Large 778 K 2.0 45 ± 10 [247] Do-14 K 674.6 400 ° [247] Ore Do, 622 0 [113] [13] Large, 778 K 2.0 45 ± 3 90–92 [110] Jarge, rye, 73 400 ° [100] [100] [100] Large, rye, 73 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [110] Large, rye, 73 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [110] Large, rye, 73 1000 in D_0 uoragly [329] Jarge, rye, 73 1000 100 100 100 Large,		emiss. λ_{max} . (nm)	excit. λ_{max} . (nm)	quant. yield $(\times 10^3)$	lifetime $(\times 10^3)$	amplitude $(\times 10^3)$	emission λ_{max} (×10 ³)		
Small, rp. 7b Small, rp. 2b67253]190 K500	Small, bean, 77 K	690	670					[109]	
Small, ry, 298 K 90 (1500 1500 Large 298 K 200 1500 Small, ry, 298 K 780-860 324 324 199 K 780-860 780-860 324 Large 298 K 780-860 1324 324 Large 275 K 1.5 45 ± 10 1367 Large 275 K 2.0 45 ± 10 133,325 Large 775 K H_0 674 40° 127 Large, 797 K H_0 692 14 ± 0. 1113 Large, 797 K H_0 692 1113 1133 Large, 797 S M 0 665 14 ± 0.2 1113 Large, 797 293 K 680 665 14 ± 0.2 1113 Large, 797 293 K 680 665 14 ± 0.2 1113 Large, 797 293 K 680 665 14 ± 0.2 1113 Large, 797 293 K 680 665 14 ± 0.2 1100 10 ± 0.3 124, 0at, 275 - 298 K 37 ± 0.4 100 ± 0.0 10 ± 0.3 1100 <	Small, rye, Tr	672						[53]	
199 K 200 > 199 K 800 520 199 K 150 520 524 199 K 150 150 521 534 199 K 70-830 150 55 15 45 ± 10 533.25 198 K 2.0 45 ± 10 533.25 187 C X 1.0 45 ± 10 533.25 187 C X K 10 074 4 533.25 200 -14 K 674.6 400 40.3 1031 1249, 0.27, N th 0 0.02 1131 1101 1101 1249, 0.2, 75, X th 0 680 665 14 ± 0.2 1101 1101 124, 0.4, 77 - 10 100 ± 30 7-9 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 1101 <t< td=""><td>Small, rye, 298 K</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>800</td><td></td><td></td><td>[322]</td></t<>	Small, rye, 298 K				800			[322]	
Large 288 k	199 K				1500				
	Large 298 K				< 200				
John Py C. 29 K (254) Large 29 K (1520) Large 29 K (167) - 200 (167) Small, az, 75 K 1.5 45 ± 10 (167) (167) Large, 275 K 2.0 45 ± 10 (167) (167) Large, 75 K 2.0 45 ± 10 (170) (167) Large, 77 K 62 (171) (167) (171) Large, 707, 203 K 640 650 1.4 ± 0.2 (110) Jo, 0 678 (113) (190) (191) Large, 707, 203 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 (191) Large, 707, 203 K 680 665 1.6 ± 0.2 (191) Large, 707, 203 K 680 372 (193) (191) 124, 040, 47 inD_O inD_O inD_O (192) 124, 040, 47 inD_O 100 10 (192) 124, 040, 47 inD_O 100 10 (192)	199 K Small min 208 K				800			[224]	
$\begin{array}{ $	Small, rye, 298 K				/80-800			[324]	
70 -830 Small, or, 275 K I.5 45 ± 10 U Large, 275 K 2.0 45 ± 10 U Large, 77, KH_0 674.6 40 ° U U Large, 77, KH_0 662 U U U T/K H_0 672 U U U Using, 77, 275 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U Using, 77, 275 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U Using, 77, 275 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U U Using, 77, 275 S 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U U U Using, 77, 275 S 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U U U U Using, 77, 275 S 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 U U U U U Using, 75, 75 S 2.9 M U U U U Usi	177 K Large 298 K				< 160-200				
Snum 1.5 45 ± 10 [367] Large 275 K 2.0 45 ± 0.0 [323,325] Jange 775, NL 620^{-1} [40] 40^{-1} [23,325] 200-14 K 672 4^{-1} [24] [24] Jange 777, NL ₂ O 692^{-1} [21] [11] Jange, 797, NL ₂ O 677 4^{-1} [11] Large, 797, PA 600^{-1} [11] [11] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [11] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [11] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [11] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [10] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [13] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 1.4 ± 0.2 [13] Large, 792, 293 K 680 665 [14] [13] Large, 792, 70 [13] [14] [15] [1	199 K				770-830				
	Small, oat, 275 K			1.5	45 ± 10			[367]	
	Large 275 K			2.0	45 ± 10				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Large, rye, Tr			$< 10^{-1}$	1 ^a			[323,325]	
Large, 27 K H ₂ O 692 77 K H ₂ O 692 113 Large, rye, ry Large, rye, 293 K 680 665 124, oat, 275–298 K 124, oat, 77 H ₂ O Oat	200–14 K	674.6		40	430 ^a				
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Large, 277 K H ₂ O	692 ^b						[247]	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Oat D ₂ O	692							
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	77 K H ₂ O		677	4 °					
Large, rye, rr400°113Large, rye, 293 K680665 1.4 ± 0.2 [119]Large, rye, 293 K680665 1.4 ± 0.2 [119]124, oat, 275–298 K29 48 ± 3 $90-92$ [121]124, oat, Trincreas.increas.[199]124, oat, Trincreas.increas.[193]124, oat, Trincreas.increas.[193]124 obsp. buff. $50-70$ strongly[329]0at $100-1200$ viscous[100-1200]124 H_0 3.7 ± 0.4 4065°689273- $1000-1200$ 15683273- 1000 15683273- 1000 19[173]293 K D_2O 3.4 ± 0.2 4058124 % glycerol 37.9 88.9685[328]124 % glycerol 37.9 88.9685[328]124 % glycerol 37.9 88.9685[328]124 % glycerol 33.6 7.6 685[328]121 % glycerol 33.8 $9.6.8$ 65[328]121 % glycerol 33.8 $9.6.8$ 65[328]7r 1331 0.7 675 [76]7r 33.8 $9.6.8$ 65 [77]7r 1331 8.3 665 [76]7r 33.8 $9.6.8$ 65 [77]7r 1331 0.7 675 [77]7r 1331 0.4 660 [73] <td>D₂O</td> <td></td> <td>678</td> <td>inn d</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>[110]</td>	D ₂ O		678	inn d				[110]	
Large, re, 293 K680665 1.4 ± 0.2 (10)372190 ± 30 $-9 - 2$ [12]124, oat, 275 - 298 K2.9 48 ± 3 $90 - 92$ [12]124, oat, Trincreas.increas.[193]124, oat, Trincreas.[193][193]124 phosph. buff. $50 - 70$ strongly[329]Oat $50 - 70$ strongly[329]124 phosph. buff. $50 - 70$ strongly[329]Oat $50 - 70$ strongly[329]124 phosph. buff. $50 - 70$ strongly[329]Oat $50 - 70$ strongly[329]Oat $100 - 1200$ viscous[329]124 P_O 3.7 ± 0.4 40 65 *293 K P_O 3.4 ± 0.2 40 58 [173]293 K P_O 3.4 ± 0.2 45 58 [173]120 (% glycerol 3.7 ± 0.4 45 58 [173]121 0% glycerol 53.6 $7.7.6$ 685 [328]0at 1112.0 0.9 675 [328]0at 1331 0.7 675 [328]121 0% glycerol 33.8 96.8 655 [328]Pea 1227 33.8 96.8 655 [27]Pea Tr 1331 0.7 675 [27][28]121 0% glycerol 33.8 96.8 655 [27]Pea Tr 1347 58 58 [27]Pea Tr 1327 33.8 $96.$	Large, rye, Tr	600		400 °				[113]	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Large, rye, 293 K	680	665	1.4 ± 0.2				[110]	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	124 and 275 208 K		312	20	18 + 2	00.07		[121]	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	124, 0at, 275–298 K			2.9	40 ± 3 190 + 30	90 <i></i> 92 7_9		[121]	
124, oat, Tr increas. increas. [193] 14, Ox5D,O in D_2O in D_2O in D_2O Oat in D_2O in D_2O iscreas. [329] Oat 50-70 strongly [329] Oat 50-70 dependent igendent igycerol 100-1200 viscous [25] 124 H_2O 3.7 \pm 0.4 40 65 ° 689 [25] Oat 3.7 \pm 0.4 40 65 ° 686 [25] Oat 1000 15 683 [173] 293 K D_2O 3.4 \pm 0.2 40 58 [173] 124 0% glycerol 1000 19 [173] Ryc 165 38 [173] Tr 1100 4 [328] Oat 37.9 88.9 685 [328] Oat 111.7 10.2 [173] [173] Tr 1112.0 0.9 675 [328] Oat 131.0 7.6 685 [227] 121 0% glycerol					190 ± 50 1040 ± 60	1			
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	124 oat Tr			increas	increas.	•		[193]	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	H_OvsD_O			in D ₂ O	in D ₂ O			[]	
Out $100-1200$ viscous 50-70 dependent taglycerol $1100-1200$ 124 H ₂ O 3.7 ± 0.4 40 65 ° 689 [25] Oat $100-1200$ 80 20 686 273- 1000 15 683 100 15 687 293 K D ₂ O 3.4 ± 0.2 40 58 1000 19 1000 19 1000 19 1000 112 1000 19 1124 0% glycerol 37.9 88.9 685 [328] 34 ± 0.2 37.9 88.9 685 [328] 312 37.9 84.9 685 328 328 36 37.9 36.9 36.5 328 328 328 36.5 328 328 36.5 328 328 36.5 328 328 36.5 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328 328	124 phosph. buff.			2 -	50-70	strongly		[329]	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Oat				1100-1200	viscous			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Tr phosph.buff.				50-70	dependent			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	+ glycerol				1100-1200				
Oat 180 20 686 273- 1000 15 683 293 K D_20 3.4 ± 0.2 40 58 293 K D_20 3.4 ± 0.2 40 15 180 19 1000 19 Large 45 58 [173] Ryc 165 38 1101 Tr 1100 4 1124 0% glycerol 53.6 77.6 685 Oat 151.7 10.2 1112.0 0.9 675 1112.0 <td< td=""><td>124 H₂O</td><td></td><td></td><td>3.7 ± 0.4</td><td>40</td><td>65 °</td><td>689</td><td>[25]</td></td<>	124 H ₂ O			3.7 ± 0.4	40	65 °	689	[25]	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Oat				180	20	686		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	273-				1000	15	683		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	293 K D ₂ O			3.4 ± 0.2	40	58			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					180	19			
Large4558 $[173]$ Rye16538	_				1000	19		[172]	
Kyc10358Tr11004124 0% glycerol37.988.9685[328]Oat151.710.21112.00.9675Tr1112.00.967567567% glycerol53.677.6685685121 0% glycerol3992.7685Pea239.95.577Tr13310.767567567% glycerol238.614.5154Pea12273.2675Tr133896.8685Pea Tr12273.2675Tr18780.46607537.894.527.54.915091509124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 147]	Large				45	28 28		[1/3]	
1711004124 0% glycerol37.988.9685[328]Oat151.710.21112.00.9675Tr1112.00.967567567567% glycerol53.677.6685685Pea239.95.55.571Tr13310.767567567% glycerol53.182.3686Pea12273.26757r13310.76757r13310.767567% glycerol53.182.3686288.614.512273.2675Pea Tr12273.896.8685Pea Tr114 0% glycerol33.896.8685Pea2442.8127.54.9124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 15090.8[47]	Rye				105	38 4			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	If				37.0	4	685	[328]	
Oat 11112.0 1012 Tr 1112.0 0.9 675 67% glycerol 53.6 77.6 685 244.5 15.6 1187 8.2 675 1210% glycerol 39 92.7 685 Pea 239.9 5.5 5.5 Tr 1331 0.7 675 67% glycerol 53.1 82.3 685 67% glycerol 53.1 82.3 685 Pea Tr 1227 3.2 675 Pea Tr 1227 3.2 675 Pea Tr 1140% glycerol 33.8 96.8 685 Pea 244 2.8 $7r$ 1140% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 10% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 124 , oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 2.3 ± 5.3 $[47]$	124 0% glycelol				151.7	10.2	000	[526]	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Tr				1112.0	0.9	675		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	67% glycerol				53.6	77.6	685		
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					244.5	15.6			
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$					1187	8.2	675		
Pea 239.9 5.5Tr 1331 0.7 675 67% glycerol 53.1 82.3 685 258.6 14.5 1227 3.2 675 Pea Tr $114 0\%$ glycerol 33.8 96.8 685 Pea 244 2.8 244 2.8 Tr 1878 0.4 660 40% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 124 , oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 $[47]$	121 0% glycerol				39	92.7	685		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Pea				239.9	5.5			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Tr				1331	0.7	675		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	67% glycerol				53.1	82.3	685		
1227 3.2 $6/5$ Pea Tr 33.8 96.8 685 Pea 244 2.8 Tr 1878 0.4 660 40% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 1509 0.8 124 , oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 $[47]$					258.6	14.5	175		
Pea Ir33.896.8685114 0% glycerol33.896.8685Pea2442.8Tr18780.466040% glycerol37.894.5227.54.915090.8124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 [47]					1227	3.2	6/3		
114 0% glycerol 33.8 90.8 085 Pea 244 2.8 Tr 1878 0.4 660 40% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 1509 0.8 124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 [47]	Pea Tr				22.0	06.9	695		
Pea2442.6Tr1878 0.4 660 40% glycerol 37.8 94.5 227.5 4.9 1509 0.8 124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 [47]	114 0% glycerol				33.8 244	90.8 28	060		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	rea				∠ 44 1878	2.0 0.4	660		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11 40% alveerel				37.8	94.5	000		
124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 [47]	40% giyceioi				227.5	4.9			
124, oat, 275 K 2.3 ± 0.3 [47]					1509	0.8			
	124, oat, 275 K			2.3 ± 0.3				[47]	

Table 1 (continued)

Phytochrome size (kDa), plant,	it, Fluorescence						
conditions	stationary			time-resolved			
	emiss. λ_{max} . (nm)	excit. λ_{max} . (nm)	quant. yield $(\times 10^3)$	lifetime $(\times 10^3)$	amplitude $(\times 10^3)$	emission λ_{max} (×10 ³)	
Rye, H ₂ O				14			[111]
118,				44			
298 K				157			
				690			
D ₂ O				13			
-				40			
				144			
				988			
Oat, 124, 85 K	684	672	0.2				[289]
Oat, H ₂ O				4-16	> 80	690	[120]
124,				45	16	< 690	
Tr				180	1.4	< 690	
				> 800	0.1	< 690	
D ₂ O				no deuterium effect			
Maize, soluble	683						[288]
124, membrane-							
85 K bound	680						

^a Calculated from τ_0 and ϕ_F ; ^b determined from the presented spectra; ^c ratio of fluorescence intensities in D₂O and H₂O; ^d decay not single exponential; ^e relative quantum yields of the kinetic components.

by the use of chlorophyll-less mutants; (3) reversible changes of the fluorescence following the phototransformation of Pr into Pfr at ambient temperatures and into lumi-R at low temperatures (Fig. 6.) and their similarity to the photoinduced changes of P fluorescence in vitro.

Fluorescence of the initial photoproduct on the route of the phototransformation from Pr into Pfr (designated lumi-R, I700 or Lr) was registered both in vitro [126] and in vivo [297-299], see (Fig. 6) and below. Pfr does not fluoresce according to the common view neither in vitro nor in vivo. Fluorescence of other intermediates in the Pr \Leftrightarrow Pfr phototransformations was not investigated.

4.2.2. Stationary fluorescence

In the emission spectra of Pr in vitro at room temperature, the maximum is located in the region from 672 nm to 693 nm (see Table 1), in particular, at 680 nm in 124 kDa oat P, as one can judge from the figures in [120,121]. At low temperatures (77-85 K), it is at 686 nm in 124 kDa rye P [126] and at 684-685 nm in 124 kDa oat P [289] (Fig. 5). Fluorescence maxima of soluble and membranebound 124 kDa P of maize were at 683 and 680 nm. respectively [288]. At liquid helium temperature, 1.5-4 K, the maximum of oat 124 kDa P was at 682.5 nm upon excitation at 610 and 650 nm (Sineshchekov, Deeg, Rüdiger, unpublished data). In vivo, in the emission spectra of monocots (oat, barley, maize, wheat, rice) and dicots (pea, bean, cress, tomato, potato, Arabidopsis), the maxima at low temperatures (85 K) are in the region of 682-687 nm [280,282,288,289,295,297-299,302,303] (Figs. 4-6). Their position depends on plant species and tissues used and on environmental and developmental factors (see below).

Upon temperature increase to 0° C a 2–3 nm hypsochromic shift was observed. There was practically no dependence of the spectral shape on the wavelength of excitation in the red (600–650 nm) in vivo [299] and in vitro [110].

Excitation spectra of the extracted P have the maximum at 670-677 nm (see Table 1 and Fig. 5). In the cells, the maximum in the low-temperature spectra was at 670-673 nm depending on the sample used and experimental conditions and a satellite was well pronounced at 608-610 nm [289,297-299,302] (Figs. 4 and 5). The shape of the excitation spectrum in the red region does not depend on the wavelength of registration in vivo [299] and in vitro [110]. The blue region of the P excitation spectra is more complex for identification, it has an admixture belonging to 'blue' fluorescence attributed in vitro to the derivatives of the chromophore (bilirubin-type pigments) [47,251]. The band at 375 nm is close to that in the absorption spectrum only in well purified samples. In etiolated pea stems there is a band at 420 nm in the experimental excitation spectrum (Fig. 4) which also does not belong to P [297,302]. The real excitation spectrum of P was calculated in [297] to have a small band at 375-380 nm which is very close to the absorption spectrum of P in vitro [241]. This similarity suggests [299] that the spectrum belongs to Pr and that there is no energy migration from the centers absorbing in the blue region to P. The functional implication of this observation is that photoresponses in this region are not likely to be due to energy migration to P as proposed by [327] from model experiments. This conclusion concerns the P species whose fluorescence is detected in etiolated tissues (probably, the soluble and membranebound fractions of phyA, see below). However, one cannot exclude such a possibility for the minor P's operating in green plants. In this connection it should be mentioned that phyA is shown not to be involved in the coaction with the blue/UV-A photoreceptors as revealed from investigations of stem growth responses in light-grown wild-type and *au*-mutant seedlings of tomato [33].

Comparison of the fluorescence emission and excitation spectra of oat P in vivo and in vitro (124 kDa) have shown [289] their identity except 1-2 nm shift of the in vitro spectra to the blue (Fig. 5). This similarity suggests, in particular, that the absorption spectra of Pr in vivo, which cannot be obtained by direct measurements due to high light scattering, can be estimated from the in vivo Pr fluorescence excitation spectra. The fluorescence of Pr is characterized by violation of the mirror symmetry rule: the emission spectrum is more diffuse than the excitation (absorption) spectrum with the well resolved band at 608-610 nm. The half-bandwidths of the excitation and emission maxima at low temperatures are 22-27 nm and 35 nm, respectively. The Stokes shift of native P in vivo and in vitro at low temperatures is approx. 14 nm and 0-0 transition in Pr at low temperatures is at 678.5 nm, i.e., corresponding to an energy of 1.83 eV [289,297-299,302].

Quantum yield of the fluorescence (ϕ_F). Fluorescence intensity of Pr in vitro at room temperature is very low, ϕ_F is from $1.4 \cdot 10^{-3}$ [110] to $3.7 \cdot 10^{-3}$ [25], see Table 1. Our estimations show that ϕ_F is approx. $5 \cdot 10^{-3}$ both for oat 124 kDa phytochrome and P in vivo [289]. Small variations comparable with an experimental error are observed in $\phi_{\rm F}$ depending on the way it was obtained ($\phi_{\rm F}$ measured, corrected for impurities and calculated from the fluorescence lifetimes) [25,121,251,367]. The yield does not depend on the size of the extracted pigment [47,367]. According to [113] $\phi_{\rm F}$ increased with the shift of the excitation wavelength to the red and in [47] different values for $\phi_{\rm F}$ were observed upon excitation in the blue and red regions. Controversial data were obtained on the effect of deuteration on $\phi_{\rm F}$: according to [193,247] $\phi_{\rm F}$ increases in D₂O up to 4 times while in [25] the substitution practically had no effect – $\phi_{\rm F}$ is $3.7 \cdot 10^{-3}$ in H₂O and $3.4 \cdot 10^{-3}$ in D₂O. Lowering of the temperature from 298 to 14 K increases the yield more than 100 times for 'large' P [323] and 30-40 times when temperature decreases to 85 K for P in oat and pea seedlings [289,297-299,302] and for 124 kDa oat P [289], $\phi_{\rm F}$ at 85 K being 0.3 in vivo and 0.2 in vitro. The temperature curve for the fluorescence intensity was complex [299]. Presentation in the Arrhenius coordinates according to the procedure suggested in [349] gave two linear parts with two values of activation energy (E_a) for the fluorescence decay – 20–35 kJ mol⁻¹ in the interval above 200–240 K and 3.5–5.0 kJ mol⁻¹ below 200 K [289,303]. Activation parameters were similar for oat P in vivo and in vitro, although small variations were observed [289]. Existence of the two temperature - dependent processes with different E, was interpreted as a manifestation of the heterogeneity of the emitting centers of Pr (see below in more detail).

Fluorescence polarization. A high and constant degree of polarization (P = 0.5) in the red region and its drop to



Fig. 6. Low-temperature (85 K) fluorescence emission spectra of Pr in the cells of 5–7-day-old etiolated pea seedlings ($\lambda_e = 650 \text{ nm}$, $I = 0.1 \text{ W m}^{-2}$) obtained in [303] (a) and [282] (b). (1) Etiolated sample frozen to 85 K in darkness; (2) the same as (1), but after illumination with saturating red light ($\lambda_a = 670 \text{ nm}$) at 85 K establishing a photoequilibrium between Pr and the first stable photoproduct, lumi-R; (3) difference spectrum: spectrum 2 normalized to spectrum 1 in the maximum (not presented in the figure) minus spectrum 1; (4) the same as (2), but after thawing to 293 K, illumination with saturating red light ($\lambda_a = 650 \text{ nm}$) transforming Pr into Pfr and freezing in darkness to 85 K. Note the different extent of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R phototransformation (γ_1), 0.27 in (a) and 0.43 in (b) which is measured as a ratio of the variable fluorescence intensity (a difference in the maximum of curve 1 ($\gamma_1 = \Delta F_1/F_0$). It was shown [280] that γ_1 depends on physiological conditions of the plant and on plant organ and tissue used for the experiment (see Section 5.2 for discussion).

0.25 in the broad band at 550 nm and to 0.1 at 400 nm were reported in the fluorescence polarization (excitation) spectrum of 'small' rye P recorded at 200 K [324]. Emission of Pr in etiolated pea stems was also almost completely polarized, $P \approx 0.4$, viz. the direction of the transition moment was the same for absorption and emission [299,302]. According to [324] the decrease in the degree of polarization in the Pr fluorescence excitation spectrum suggests that the band at 608 nm belongs to the second electronic transition, Q_x , and it was estimated that the Q_y and Q_x transition moments form an angle of 36°. High degree of polarization suggests that the chromophores in the P dimer are spatially separated and there is no interaction and homogeneous energy transfer between them or that they are oriented parallel to each other [299].

4.2.3. Time-resolved fluorescence of phytochrome

The fact that the fluorescence of P is quenched at room temperature agrees well with the short lifetime ($\tau_{\rm F}$) of the P excited states (see Table 1). Evaluations based on the radiative lifetime, τ_0 , (14 ns [324], 20 ns [113]) and the quantum yields give $\tau_{\rm F}$ on the order of tens ps.

Lifetimes of the Pr fluorescence. The picture of the fluorescence decay kinetics becomes increasingly complex along with the improvement of the picosecond technique. At least four exponential kinetic components in the interval from several ps to 1 ns are necessary to approximate the experimental curves [111,120] (see Table 1). The fact which attracts attention is that $\tau_{\rm F}$ of the components practically does not depend on the degree of intactness of the P molecule [111,120,121,328,367] (see Table 1). Thus, the properties of the excited states of Pr are primarily governed by the immediate surroundings of the chromophore in its protein pocket. This is also evidenced by the effect of microviscosity on the kinetic parameters of P fluorescence [328]: glycerol, which penetrates into the chromophore pocket, slowed down the process of the degradation of the excited states, while Ficoll, which changes macroviscosity but has no access to the chromophore cavity, had no effect on the kinetic parameters. Finally, it was found that the short-lived (ps) decay kinetics showed only a minor deuterium isotope effect, or none at all [25,111,120], suggesting that the proton translocation is not likely to play an important role in the initial photoprocesses. The multicomponent kinetics of the Pr fluorescence decay was interpreted in [120,172] as a formation of the heterogeneous Pr excited states with different $\tau_{\rm F}$ from the homogeneous ground state population.

Time-resolved Pr fluorescence emission spectra. These have been obtained in [25,120,328] with position of maximum varying from 660 nm to 690 nm, see Table 1. In all works, one could follow a certain regularity: the shortest-lived components (4-45 ps) had the longer-wavelength position of the maximum – 690 nm [25,120] and 685 nm [328] and for the longer-lived components (approx. 1 ns), the maxima were hypsochromically shifted by more than

10 nm. The spectra in the picosecond time interval did not depend on the size of the molecule, while for the longerlived component with the blue-shifted spectrum the shift was more pronounced in the truncated than in the fulllength P. In general, the kinetics data revealed certain differences in the conformational flexibility (or in the heterogeneity) of P preparations from monocots vs. dicots and intact vs. the amino-terminus-truncated P [328]. Kinetic measurements of the P fluorescence decay in vivo have not yet been performed; however, evaluations of τ_F from ϕ_F in vivo and τ_0 gave the value of approx. 100 ps [289].

4.3. Photoreaction

The quantum yield is within 0.07-0.21 for the forward reaction and 0.06-0.17 for the reverse, depending on the size of pigment [112,158,213,356]. Judging by the fluorescence lifetime measurements the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoreaction takes place within tens or hundreds of picoseconds and for its investigation the process is to be slowed down and stopped at the stage of the formation of the initial photoproduct by cooling or to follow it with the use of kinetics methods in the picosecond time interval.

4.3.1. Flash photolysis investigations of the phototransformations $Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi \cdot R$

Photoreaction $Pr \rightarrow lumi-R$. Linschits et al. [171] have observed a decrease in the absorption at 664 nm and the appearance of the band at 695 nm which belongs to lumi-R at registration time of 0.2 ms. The laser flash-photolysis investigations [24] suggest that lumi-R already exists 10 ns after the flash and recent ps absorption measurements on isolated 'large' rye P [173] reveal a decay of Pr* within 40 ps, while the lumi-R appearance within 100 ps. This difference was interpreted as an indication that lumi-R is formed via an unstable intermediate: $Pr(665 \text{ nm}) \rightarrow Pr^*$ (approx. 500 nm, 660 nm) $-^{40ps} \rightarrow \text{prelumi-R}(?)-^{60ps} \rightarrow$ lumi-R(690 nm). A ground state species preceding lumi-R, which equilibrates with Pr*, has been proposed by Song and coworkers [329] to explain the viscosity dependence of the Pr fluorescence lifetimes. It is reported [251], however, that 99% of the thermal reverse reaction of pre-I700 to Pr proceeds directly rather than via Pr*.

In the work by Kandori et al. [142] existence of prelumi-R (pre-I700) was, however, questioned. The authors did not observe the delay in the lumi-R formation from the Pr^{*} depopulation (both processes proceeded within 24 ps) on the 'large' Type 1 P from pea at 275 K. It should be noted, however, that the experimental picture was complicated by the superposition of the absorption and Pr fluorescence decay signals. Qualitatively similar results to those of Kandori et al. were obtained with 1–2 ps resolution by Savikhin et al. [250] on native etiolated oat P. Formation of the lumi-R absorption spectrum followed the decay of stimulated emission (with τ_F of 16 and 50–60 ps and the spectra maximizing at 690–695 nm), i.e., lumi-R was formed directly from Pr^{*} without intermediate (prelumi-R) stage. Time-resolved anisotropy studies indicate that the orientations of the Pr and lumi-R absorption transition moments are nearly parallel.

Results of Lipitsch et al. [172] present a much more complicated picture of the phototransformation $Pr \rightarrow lumi-$ R in 118 kDa rye P. It was concluded that (i) several spectroscopically distinguishable intermediates were involved in the picosecond phototransformation and (ii) absorption changes cannot be described by a simple kinetic model involving sequential or parallel pathways with firstorder transformation kinetics of intermediates. The authors dissect the transients into different stages (A-G) (see Fig. 7). At stage A (0-15 ps) excited state absorption appears with the bands at 420 nm and 660 nm. The excited state absorption decays within 15 ps, which agrees with the Pr fluorescence decay [111]. Stage B (15-25 ps) is characterized by the full appearance of ground state bleaching. Stage C (25-45 ps): absorption rises steeply with the spectrum similar to the initial Pr (as in stage A). In stage D (40-120 ps) a new absorption arises around 690 nm, which is attributed to lumi-R, parallel to 660 nm absorption decay with a time constant of about 40 ps. This matches the second fluorescence decay with $\tau_{\rm E} = 44$ ps [111]. In stage E (120–150 ps) only transient absorbance at 690 nm is present. During stage F (150-170 ps) and G (over 180 ps) the absorption at 660 nm increases again and another increase is observed at 690 nm suggesting formation of lumi-R along another path. The authors believe that the transients in the stages A-C reflect processes in excited Pr and excited lumi-R, and that the first ground state intermediate in the phototransformation of Pr appears only after 157 ps and is the second species of lumi-R (see the scheme in Fig. 7). Lumi-R at stages E and F represents what was initially termed prelumi-R by the same authors in [173].

Several questions arise with respect to the interpretation of the data. First, fluorescence decay kinetics of Pr are reasonably well described by the sum of exponentials [111,120] and this comes into contradiction with the observation that kinetic curves of the Pr absorption transients are neither exponential nor monotonous. Second, it is assumed in the scheme that the transition from Pr into lumi-R takes place in the excited state along the route without energy barrier. However, this is at variance with the data suggesting that the photoreaction is an activation process in the excited state and that up to 140 kJ mol⁻¹ is accumulated in lumi-R, see below. The latter implies the existence of the energy gap of the same magnitude between the excited states of Pr and lumi-R. This gap cannot be breached even at ambient temperatures although it is known that lumi-R is easily formed at low temperatures. This also contradicts the assumption made by the authors that the chromophore phototransformation is only to trigger changes in the protein without providing energy for



Fig. 7. Transient absorption changes in Pr at different times (ps) after excitation: (A) 10, (B) 20, (C) 35, (D) 50, (E) 130, (F) 170 and (G) 270 ps (upper panel). The lettering corresponds to the stages of the photoprocesses discussed in the text and presented in the kinetic model (lower panel) for the transformation of Pr to lumi-R, based on the time-resolved absorption [173] and fluorescence [111] measurements. Long-dashed arrows: fluorescence; short-dashed arrows: internal conversion; full arrows: photoconversion. Pr*: excited state Pr; Pr*': orthogonal Pr*; Pr*'': fully rotated Pr*; lumi-R*: excited state lumi-R; lumi-R*: excited state lumi-R. (From [173]).

them. Third, the authors suggest that both excited states of Pr and of lumi-R are populated upon excitation of only the Pr ground state and attribute the fluorescence component with $\tau_{\rm F} = 157$ ps to lumi-R. This can be argued on the basis that no fluorescence of lumi-R is observed in etiolated tissues at low temperatures where P is present in the Pr form and the lumi-R fluorescence appears only upon transformation of Pr into lumi-R. Fourth, the longer lifetime components have shorter wavelength positions (see above), i.e., the 157 ps component has its fluorescence maximum at approx. 680 nm while that of lumi-R emits beyond 700 nm. The scheme of the initial photoprocesses suggested in [172] and [250] is similar in some respect to the scheme of Holzwarth et al. [120] explaining the heterogeneity of the Pr fluorescence decay by the existence of a Pr excited-state potential energy surface exhibiting minima along the isomerization reaction coordinate.

Photoreaction lumi- $R \rightarrow Pr$. Investigation of the reverse reaction $Lr \rightarrow Pr$ seems to be important for the understanding of the nature of the forward reaction, $Pr \rightarrow Lr$, and laser-induced physiological photoresponses (see below). The $Lr \rightarrow Pr$ photoreaction can be observed at ambient temperatures with the use of the double-flash/double-color technique, when the pulse which converts Lr into Pr is given after the pulse converting Pr into Lr with delay times within the lifetime of Lr. Observations of this kind were performed in [128,220] on native oat P. It was found that the amount of Pfr which is formed by the first flash is reduced by the second flash, which is absorbed primarily by lumi-R, and absorption of Pr is restored. These data were confirmed in [265] and the absorption spectra of I700 was determined on the native 124 kDa oat P at physiological temperatures to have $\lambda_{max} = 680$ nm and $\epsilon = 149$ mM^{-1} cm⁻¹, i.e., 15 nm blue-shifted as compared with the position at low temperatures. Photoexcitation of lumi-R in 124 kDa oat P after its formation from Pr upon laser illumination 'instantaneously' (1-2 ps resolution) recreates fluorescing Pr* [250] implying the existence of the common excited state level for Pr and lumi-R. This contrasts with the results of the steady-state low-temperature experiments on the Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R phototransformations [280,282], in particular, it is difficult to explain from this position the photoequilibrium between Pr and lumi-R, the almost complete photoreversibility of the $Pr \rightarrow lumi-R$ photoreaction, and existence of the Pr and lumi-R fluorescence independent of each other.

4.3.2. Time-resolved laser-induced optoacoustic spectroscopy

The photoreaction $Pr \Leftrightarrow 1700$ was followed at room temperature with the use of pulse-induced optoacoustic techniques on the 'small' 60 kDa [130] and native 124 kDa [107] oat P. The action spectrum of the heat emission differed from the absorption spectrum of Pr in the region of 610 and 695 nm. This fact was interpreted as a formation of a dynamic photoequilibrium between Pr and I700, which is established during the 15 ns laser flash. Jabben et al. [130] have calculated the energy accumulated in lumi-R to be 140 kJ mol⁻¹ taking into consideration the quantum yield of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R photoreaction of 0.13 in the 'small' 60 kDa oat P [177]. Later on, Heihoff et al. [107] were more cautious giving the upper value, 180 kJ mol⁻¹. The sum of the constants of the initial photoprocesses of Pr was estimated to be $0.3 \cdot 10^{10}$ s⁻¹ [130]. The quantum yield of the initial photoreaction has been reconsidered in [107] and estimated to be more than 0.5. Later on, however, it was concluded that this was an overestimation (Braslavski, S.E., personal communication) and the value of 0.17 [213,356] is to be accepted.

4.3.3. Absorption and fluorescence investigations of the phytochrome phototransformations in the 77–293 K interval. Kinetics and fluence time-response curves

Photoconversion $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$. At physiological temperatures (0-20° C), absorption kinetics of the Pr phototransformation in the seconds and minutes time range are monoexponential both in vitro and in vivo. The controversial data suggesting deviation from the monoexponentiality in the case of P in etiolated tissues have been interpreted as a result of the existence of an actinic light gradient in the highly light scattering medium (see [264,332] and the literature cited therein).

 $Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R$ phototransformations. Investigations of the low-temperature *light-induced absorption changes* of Pr were carried out in a number of early works comprehensively reviewed in [148,311]. The results relevant to the present discussion can be summarized as follows: (1) At low temperatures the phototransformation Pr ⇔ Pfr is not possible. The photoreversibility is also stopped by dehydration of the samples. (2) The first photoproduct, lumi-R, was shown to be stable below 150–170 K and the Pr ⇔ lumi-R reaction is photoreversible.

The absorption maximum of lumi-R is clearly seen in the difference absorption spectra upon phototransformation of Pr into lumi-R at 77 K. The lumi-R spectrum calculated in vitro [241] is characterized by the main maximum at 698 nm, a satellite at 630 nm and a small Soret band, by the better resolved structure and higher oscillator strength than those of the initial Pr form. The extinction coefficient was estimated to be $178-198 \text{ mM}^{-1}\text{ cm}^{-1}$ at 77 K [242]. These parameters did not change much with temperature: $\lambda_{max} = 693 \text{ nm}$ and $\epsilon = 190 \text{ mM}^{-1}\text{ cm}^{-1}$ at 133 K [75].

Absorption measurements of the fluence time-response curves for the Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R phototransformations were carried out at 119–155 K on 124 kDa oat P by Eilfeld et al. [72]. The use of buffer-glycerol medium (in H₂O and D₂O) frozen as a transparent glass excluded the influence of the light scattering on the kinetics of the phototransformations. In these conditions two kinetic components were found in the Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R photoreactions – less reactive and more reactive – a picture different from that observed at room temperatures. The quantum yields of the photore-

actions depended on temperature and E_{a} of the forward and reverse reactions were evaluated to be 3.6 ± 0.5 and 5.7 ± 0.7 kJ mol⁻¹, respectively. Lowering of the rate of the total Pr phototransformation was also due to the fact that the share of the slow component increased with the temperature decrease. Deuteration insignificantly changed the kinetic and activation parameters of the two components, although the quantum yield of the photoconversion of Pr in D₂O increased by 40% and the share of lumi-R at the photoequilibrium was lower than that in H_2O . The yield at room temperature did not change in D₂O. Temperature dependence and heterogeneity of the fluence timeresponse curves would agree, according to the authors' view, with the assumption of at least two populations of lumi-R. The dependence of the quantum yield of phototransformation of Pr and Pfr on temperature was followed in [248] on 114 kDa pea P. In the interval 293-193 K, it showed a potential barrier in the excited state which was 5.9 kJ mol⁻¹ both for the Pr \rightarrow Pfr and reverse photoreactions. It was suggested that E_a might represent the barrier to proton transfer in the excited state. The authors in [72] point out, however, that it is impossible to discriminate between the isomerization and proton translocation merely from the E_a values.

Pr photoconversion into lumi-R and back were followed also by the photoinduced Pr (and lumi-R) *fluorescence intensity changes*. They were observed in vitro on the native P from rye by Inoue et al. [126]: photoinduced changes at 686 nm amounted to 25% and were followed by the appearance of an emission maximum of lumi-R at 702 nm. Investigations in vivo were carried out on etiolated seedlings of monocots and dicots [280,282,289,297299,301-303] along three experimental lines by measuring: (1) light-induced changes of the Pr fluorescence spectra in the range 77-150 K; (2) kinetics and fluence timeresponse curves of the light-induced Pr fluorescence intensity changes; (3) temperature dependence of the Pr fluorescence yield and of the quantum yield and extent of the $Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R$ phototransformation. With the use of lowtemperature fluorescence difference [282,297-299,302,303] and also derivative spectroscopy [299], the maxima of lumi-R were determined at 696 nm in the excitation spectrum, and at approx. 705 nm in the emission spectrum (see Fig. 6). $\phi_{\rm F}$ of lumi-R was found to be close to that of Pr, 0.3 at 77 K [298]. A dependence of the position of the Pr emission spectrum within 683-689 nm on the extent of its phototransformation into lumi-R was established, suggesting heterogeneity of the Pr population [282]. This conclusion is supported by the fact that the temperature dependence of the variable Pr fluorescence $(F_{\rm u})$ connected with the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R phototransformation differs from that of Pr fluorescence in the etiolated samples frozen in the dark (F_0) [303].

The kinetics of the Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R phototransformation at low temperatures are complex [299,302,303]. Investigations of the fluence time-response curves for the Pr \Leftrightarrow lumi-R phototransformation at 85–150 K, which was shown to be almost fully reversible at 85 K upon prolonged FR illumination (3–5% is left in the Lr form), revealed three kinetic components operationally designated as 'slow' (s), 'fast' (f) and 'very fast' (vf) both in the forward and reverse reactions: Pr_s \Leftrightarrow Lr_s; Pr_f \Leftrightarrow Lr_f and Pr_{vf} \Leftrightarrow Lr_{vf} [282]. The proportion of the amplitudes of the variable fluorescence of the three P states were found to



Fig. 8. Hypothetical scheme of energy levels and transitions between them in the molecules of pigments of photochromic nature including the Pr and lumi-R forms of phytochrome. A, initial state, Pr in the case of phytochrome; B, the first stable photoproduct, lumi-R; A-B, the shortliving unstable intermediate, prelumi-R; k, rate constants of fluorescence (k_t) , temperature-independent degradation of excitation (k_d) , primary photoreaction (k_p) , phototransformation into the product (k_{ab}) , and return to the initial state (k_{ba}) ; E_a and E'_a , activation energies of the temperature-dependent forward and reverse primary photoreactions (from [303]) (left). Third dimension is added to the scheme to incorporate the data [282] suggesting the existence of the conformers of the chromophore in Pr and lumi-R which differ by the energetic and kinetic parameters of the initial photoprocesses and whose relative ground state populations depend on temperature and state of isomerization of the pigment (right).

change with temperature and upon the Pr \Leftrightarrow Lr phototransformation. The quantum yields of the photoreactions for the three species differed one from the other by approx. a factor of 10 and those of forward and reverse conversions were close to each other. The latter agrees with the yields of the forward Pr \rightarrow Lr and reverse Lr \rightarrow Pr reactions at ambient temperatures estimated to be similar or differ by a factor of two (depending on the method of calculation) in the experiments on laser-induced germination of fern spores [260]. E_a for the forward and reverse Pr_s \Leftrightarrow Lr_s photoreactions is 2.9 kJ mol⁻¹ and 3.7 kJ mol⁻¹, respectively, and it should be lower for Pr_f \Leftrightarrow Lr_f and Pr_{vf} \Leftrightarrow Lr_{vf} [282]. From these data it was also concluded that the properties of the heterogeneous lumi-R states were very close to those of the Pr states.

4.4. Photophysical and photochemical heterogeneity of phytochrome and the scheme of the photoprocesses

The above-mentioned data point to the existence of the three Pr species with different quantum yields of photoreaction at low temperatures (Pr_{vf}, P_{rf}, Pr_s) . The forth species, Prvs, which undergoes practically no photochemical transformations at low temperatures but reveals normal photoactivity at ambient temperatures, was detected [280,303] (see below in more detail). The difference in the quantum yield of the photoreaction at low temperatures is likely to be connected with the different activation barriers for the photoreaction in the excited state. This and other photochemical and fluorescence properties can be described in the framework of the scheme of the initial photoprocesses in Pr and lumi-R (see Fig. 8), which is characterized by the following features: (1) Participation of the singlet excited states of Pr and lumi-R in the photoprocesses with the energy (0-0 transition) of 1.83 eV and 1.77 eV, respectively. (2) Violation of the mirror-image relationship between the structured absorption and diffuse emission spectra. This fact can be taken either in support of the attribution of the two main red Pr absorption bands (see above) to different electronic transition, or, if they belong to one transition, this could point, in agreement with the theoretical considerations of Neporent [202] and comparison with stilbenes [84], to the electronic relaxation of the chromophore in the excited state into a sterically hindered less planar conformation. (3) The photochemical reaction is photoisomerization by its nature. (4) The photochemical reaction has an energy barrier in the excited state. (5) The photoreaction is the main (if not the only) temperature-dependent route for the deactivation of the excited state. This is suggested by the fact that there is a direct competition between fluorescence and photochemistry and that E_a for the fluorescence decay is very close to or coincides with E_a for the photoreaction. (6) Existence of the temperature-independent route for the deactivation of the excited states whose rate constant is on the order of magnitude of the constant of the fluorescence decay. (7)

Existence of an unstable at low temperatures (orthogonal) intermediate (prelumi-R) with excess energy in the 'hot' ground state between Pr and lumi-R where branching of the photoreaction can take place – back to the initial ground state (uncompleted photoreaction) or to the photoproduct (completed photoreaction). (8) A symmetrical scheme of the photoconversion lumi-R \rightarrow Pr is suggested based on the fact that the lumi-R states prove to be very close by their properties to the respective Pr states. However, the question of whether the reverse reaction goes via one and the same unstable intermediate state (prelumi-R) remains open.

In accordance with this scheme some assessments have been made [303] with respect to the yield and rates of the primary photoprocesses in the Pr states and their changes with temperature. The yields of fluorescence (3-4 transition) and of deactivation along the photochemical route (3-5), $\phi_{\rm P}$, are:

$$\phi_{\rm F} = k_{\rm f} / \left(k_{\rm f} + k_{\rm d} + k_{\rm po} e^{-E_{\rm a}/RT} \right)$$
(1)

$$\phi_{\rm P} = \left(k_{\rm po} {\rm e}^{-E_{\rm a}/RT}\right) / \left(k_{\rm f} + k_{\rm d} + k_{\rm po} {\rm e}^{-E_{\rm a}/RT}\right)$$
(2)

The yield of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R phototransformation, ϕ_{Pr-Lr} , is equal to the product $\phi_P \times \phi_{ab}$, where ϕ_{ab} is the probability of the transformation from level 5 to the ground level of lumi-R ($\phi_{ab} = k_{ab}/(k_{ab} + k_{ba})$). A similar relationship should be true for the photoprocesses in lumi-R and the extent of the Pr \rightarrow Lr phototransformation (γ_1) would depend on E_a and/or ϕ_{ab} for the forward and reverse photoreactions.

Theoretical curves of changes of $\phi_{\rm F}$ and $\phi_{\rm P}$ were constructed for the different Pr states with the activation parameters obtained in the experiment. For all the states $\phi_{\rm P}$ approaches unity at temperatures near the physiological ones and the yield of the Pr phototransformation should be determined by ϕ_{ab} . ϕ_{ab} for different Pr species should be close to each other judging by the fact that the kinetics of the Pr phototransformation at room temperature in the seconds-minutes time range is monoexponential (see above) and that the extent of their $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation is approx. the same (75-85%) [303]. At low temperatures, < 150-170 K, where lumi-R is stable, the yields of the phototransformation of Pr and Lr and hence the extent of the $Pr \rightarrow lumiR$ phototransformation would depend primarily on $\phi_{\rm P}$ since photoreaction at low temperatures is relatively slow and competes with the other deactivation processes.

The complex picosecond kinetics of the Pr phototransformation and fluorescence decay can be also interpreted in terms of the heterogeneity of the initial Pr state and the above-mentioned scheme of the initial photoprocesses. Estimations based on the activation parameters of the photoreaction and fluorescence decay for the three different Pr states with E_a of approx. 4.5–5, 10 and 30–35 kJ mol⁻¹ obtained in [303] suggest that the lifetimes would be on the order of magnitude from approx. 1 ps to 1 ns, which is in the range of the experimentally obtained lifetimes (see Table 1). It should be also mentioned that the components with different lifetimes are also characterized by different positions of the emission spectra, which vary in the range 680-688 nm (see Table 1). This is in line with the observation of the steady state emitting centers of Pr with different position of the fluorescence maxima.

Thus, we may conclude that there are two alternative





Fig. 9. Dependence of the extent of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R phototransformation at 85 K (γ_1) measured as shown in Fig. 6 (left panel) and of the concentration of the two Pr species calculated from the γ_1 values (right panel) on the total phytochrome content ([P_{tot}] proportional to F₀) in different parts of etiolated seedlings (shoots and roots) of maize (a), oat (b), and pea (c). (1) longer-wavelength Pr species, Pr_{686/673}, with high γ_1 , Pr', and (2) the shorter-wavelength species, Pr_{682/669}, with low γ_1 , Pr" [280].

explanations of the heterogeneity of the Pr states participating in the initial photoprocesses – heterogeneity of the excited state population of Pr while the ground state is assumed to be homogeneous [120,172] and heterogeneity of the ground state population of Pr which eventually yields heterogeneity of the excited states [282,303].

5. The nature of the heterogeneous red-absorbing phytochrome species

The data obtained allows at present to consider two possible causes of the observed ground state heterogeneity of the pigment: different conformations of the chromophore and different apoprotein moieties.

5.1. Different conformers of the chromophore

The fact that the proportion of the Pr centers which are characterized by different photoactivity at low temperatures (see above) changes with temperature and upon Pr transformation into lumi-R and back [72,282] was interpreted in [282] as an indication that they could be different conformers of the chromophore at thermoequilibrium with each other. The effect of glycerol, which changes the proportion of the components with different lifetimes [328], can be also considered in terms of different populations of the conformers whose equilibrium may depend on microviscosity in the chromophore pocket of the apoprotein or on solvent polarity. In Fig. 8 the relationship between the hypothetical process of the distribution of the conformers of the chromophore and their phototransformations is visualized with the three dimensional scheme where the x axis is the reaction (= isomerization) coordinate (configuration changes) and y axis is the coordinate along which the different chromophore species redistribute (conformation changes).

5.2. Different apoproteins

The assumption on the different Pr conformers cannot explain, however, all the data on P heterogeneity, in particular, the dependence of the fluorescence and photochemical parameters of Pr on plant species and tissues used and their physiological conditions. Investigations carried out on different parts of wild type shoots and roots of monocots (oat, maize, rice) and dicots (pea, cress, cucumber, potato) [280] and on phyB-less lh mutant of cucumber [281], transgenic potato with modified phyA levels (Sineshchekov and Gatz, unpublished data) and also on de-etiolated lip mutant of pea [287] have shown that the position and half-width of the emission bands vary from 682 to 687 nm and from 21-22 to 25 nm, respectively. For example, in cucumber and cress stems the emission maximum was at 687 and 684 nm, in stems and roots of pea, cucumber and other species, at 686 and 682-683 nm,

respectively. There were variations in the profile of the temperature dependence curve of the Pr fluorescence intensity. The most sensitive parameter was, however, the extent of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R phototransformation, $\gamma_1 = \Delta F_1/F_0$ (see Fig. 6). It varied from less than 0.1 to approx. 0.5. At the same time the extent of the Pr phototransformation into Pfr, γ_2 , was within 0.70–0.85. In general, these characteristics monotonously change as a function of the P content, [P_{tot}]: with its decrease to 3–5% of the maximal values, λ_{max} decreases from 686 nm to 682 nm, $\Delta\lambda$ rises from 22 nm to approx. 25 nm, γ_1 drops down from 0.45–0.50 to approx. 0.70.

5.2.1. Phytochrome in different plant species and tissues, localization dependence

The data obtained were interpreted [280] in terms of two different P's whose relative concentration varied with $[P_{tot}]$: (i) a longer wavelength type (Pr') with maximum at 686 nm, high individual extent of the Pr' phototransformation to lumi-R, γ'_1 (0.49 ± 0.03) and to Pfr, γ'_2 (approx. 0.85), and low E_a of the photoreaction ($E_a < 3-4$ kJ mol⁻¹); (ii) a shorter wavelength type (Pr") with $\lambda_{max} =$ 682 nm, $\gamma_1'' < 0.1$, $\gamma_2'' \approx 0.70$, and higher E_a , $\leq 25-35$ kJ mol^{-1} , (Pr"). Pr' is the bulk P and [Pr'] widely varies in different parts of the seedlings (up to 100 times) and Pr' dominates when [P_{tot}] is high. Pr" is a minor species and [Pr''] is much more constant (variations, < 10 times) and it becomes the major one when $[P_{tot}]$ drops down (Fig. 9). Estimations show that the plant species investigated make the following succession with respect to the relative Pr" content in decreasing order: cress, maize, potato, pea, oat, cucumber. Thus, the first conclusion is that Pr' is the bulk and variable component, while Pr" is the minor, saturable and conserved one which is much more uniformly distributed in plant tissues.

5.2.2. Effect of preillumination of phytochrome – light-labile and light-stable pools

Now the question arises regarding the relation of the Pr species to the Type 1 (light-labile) and Type 2 (light-stable) P pools. The data on pea and oat (Sineshchekov and Sineshchekov, unpublished data) show that Pr' sharply drops within 2 h in the dark after R preillumination in parallel with [Ptot], while [Pr"] remains relatively constant. On the other hand, it was observed [295] that the extent of the P destruction is different in stems and roots of cress and that the proportions of the labile and stable species are very close to those of the Pr' and Pr" in these organs. The light-stable species itself is likely to undergo slow light-induced destruction. This is suggested by the fact observed on wild-type barley and its chlorophyll-free mutant that the Pr fluorescence intensity reflecting Pttot decreases to approx. 3% of its initial value in etiolated tissues after prolonged (hours) illumination (Sineshchekov and Rüdiger, unpublished results). This time course of the Pr' (tens

of minutes) and Pr" (hours) destruction is reminiscent of that of total P observed earlier by the absorption technique [27,108] (see above). It should be also noted that the green-tissue (light-stable) P has a shorter wavelength position according to some authors (see Section 4.1), as is the case with Pr". Thus, the second conclusion, which is closely related to the first one, is that Pr' is the light-labile pool and Pr" is the light-stable one. The short-term (min) R-FR preillumination, which transforms Pr into Pfr and back and which is supposed to change P distribution from diffuse to sequestered (see above), has no effect on either the spectroscopic and photochemical properties of the Pr' and Pr" species or their relative abundance in the sample (pea, oat, maize) [280]. This suggests that Pr' and Pr" are not likely to be connected with the sequestering phenomenon.

5.2.3. Relation to phyA and phyB

The most intriguing question is whether the two spectroscopic and photochemical Pr types could be related to different P's. Experiments on transgenic potato with increased and decreased levels of phyA production have shown (Sineshchekov and Gatz, unpublished data) that the proportion of Pr' drops down along with [P_{tot}], which decreases by a factor of 10 in the anti-sense species. This observation together with the fact that Pr' is the labile bulk pigment strongly suggests that Pr' belongs to phyA. Ambiguity remained, however, with respect to Pr", which could be either phyB or a small fraction of modified phyA because its production is not completely blocked in the anti-sense potato. To solve this, experiments were carried out [280,281] with the long hypocotyl lh mutant of cucumber, which is believed to lack phyB [147,228]. It was shown that there was practically no difference in the low-temperature fluorescence spectra in stems and roots in the wild-type etiolated seedlings and its lh mutant, and that the $[P_{tot}]$ and γ_1 were slightly lower in the mutant. This implies that the *lh* mutant has the same or even higher concentration of Pr" and that Pr" is not likely to be phyB (Type 2), but rather a small posttranslationally modified fraction of phyA (Type 1). A possibility that modification of P can influence γ_1 was demonstrated by two lines of experiment: first, it was found that freezing and thawing of the sample increases the fraction of the species inactive at low temperature (spectroscopically and photochemically similar to Pr") at the expense of Pr' [303]. Second, in the preliminary experiments of Sineshchekov and Lamparter (unpublished data) it was shown that phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of P changes γ_1 : it was 0.33 \pm 0.01 and 0.23 ± 0.01 , respectively.

5.2.4. Subpopulations of phytochrome A: soluble and membrane-bound phytochromes

Finally, a correlation between the Pr' and Pr" and the isolated soluble and membrane-associated fractions of P have been established in our recent experiments [288].

Comparative fluorescence and photochemical studies of phytochrome in etiolated seedlings of maize and of the soluble and membrane-bound fractions isolated from them have shown that λ_{max} and γ_1 reached maximum in the tips of coleoptiles and roots, 686 nm and 0.30-0.40, and the lowest values were observed in root base, down to 682 nm and ca 0.05, respectively. γ_2 did not differ much: 0.80-0.85 and 0.70-0.75 for the samples with the two extreme values of γ_1 , respectively. These parameters correlated well with those obtained for the 124 kDa pigment in the soluble and membrane-bound fractions, the figures were 684 and 680 nm and 0.33 and 0.06, respectively. These variations of the in vivo parameters can be interpreted in agreement with [280,281] in terms of the two P A species - Pr' and Pr" (see above) and the observed correlation of the in vivo and in vitro parameters suggest that Pr' and Pr" are the soluble and membrane-bound fractions of P A. This possibility is indicated also by the correlation in the relative content of Pr" [280] and of the membrane-associated P [164]: each of them increases in the succession: oat, pea, maize. The question to what extent this heterogeneity could be due to the existence of heterogeneous P protein isolated from etiolated seedlings [98,99] and of several iso-P genes of Type A [114] remains unknown. It should be mentioned that Wang et al. [365] did not find evidence that any of the three immunochemically detectable oat P's belonging to Type 1 and Type 2 is membrane-bound. I believe that their negative result can be accounted for by the fact that oat has, as it was mentioned above, relatively low content of the membraneassociated (Pr") fraction [164,280]. The existence of the amphiphilic P sequences should be also mentioned which are exposed on the surface of the protein and which are potentially capable of interaction with other cellular macromolecules [211]. Considering this attribution of Pr' and Pr" to different phenomenological types of P A it is of interest to note two points: first, that P from plasma membranes [336] differs from the soluble one by the kinetics of light-induced destruction: the onset of the loss of the associated pigment was delayed and its final relative abundance was higher and second, the P membrane-binding was saturable. This suggests according to Terry et al. [336] that the plasma membrane-bound P represents a pool whose regulation is partially independent of the total Type 1 P. This description of the membrane-associated P is consistent with that of the Pr" species.

Thus, $Pr'_{686/673}$ and $Pr''_{682/669}$ (designated by their emission/excitation (absorption) maxima) are the bulk, variable, light-labile, photoactive at low temperatures species with high γ_1 and the minor, conservative, light-stable, less photoactive at low temperatures species with low γ_1 , respectively. Both of them belong to the Type 1 P (PhyA) (probably, soluble and membrane-bound species) and Pr' itself is comprised by at least three subspecies, which are most likely different conformers of the chromophore.

Phytochrome B was shown in vitro to possess a

shorter-wavelength position of the absorption maximum and lower extent of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation (see above and [90]). Fluorescence and low-temperature photochemistry of phyB, as far as we know, were not investigated.

5.2.5. Phytochrome species in dormant and germinating seeds

The situation with the heterogeneous P species becomes even more complex if the dynamics of P content and photoactivity is followed in the germinating seeds. In [278] total P content, proportional to Pr fluorescence intensity at 77 K, and photoactivity at ambient temperatures (γ_2) were measured in dry seeds of pea and bean and in the early stages of their germination and in dark grown seedlings. Both parameters showed a complicated pattern of changes including at least four phases. They were interpreted in terms of relative concentration changes of two pools of P, only one of which (probably, a hydrated species [311]) can be phototransformed into Pfr with γ_2 of about 0.8. It was also suggested that the newly synthesized pigment was initially incapable of photoconversion into Pfr either because it was incompletely formed (needs a posttranslational modification) or it was synthesized in hydrophobic sites in the cell and only later was hydrated and thus acquired photochemical activity [278,302].

A complex picture has been revealed with respect to the P species in seeds with the use of immunochemical technique (see [363] and the literature cited therein). Three P apoproteins in seeds of *Avena sativa* L. with monomeric molecular masses 125, 124 and 123 kDa and relative abundance of 15, 18 and 67%. have been identified. At least one of them is photoactive and is believed to be responsible for photoregulation of seed germination and for regulation of the de novo synthesis of P during germination. The 124 kDa P in seeds is the same as the one predominating in the etiolated seedlings. It is tempting to assume that the two sides of the same complex picture are observed with the fluorescence and immunochemical methods; however, direct comparative investigations are needed to establish their relationships.

6. The far-red-absorbing phytochrome form

The properties of the excited states and photoprocesses in Pfr are much less known than in Pr. This is largely due to the lack of Pfr fluorescence. However, a similar scheme as shown in Fig. 8 can be used with respect to the Pfr \rightarrow lumi-F phototransformation and explain some of the photophysical and photochemical properties of Pfr: (i) very low $\phi_{\rm F}$ ($< 10^{-3}-10^{-4}$) in 124 oat phytochrome at liquid helium temperature (Sineshchekov, Deeg, Rüdiger, unpublished data); (ii) the fact that the Pfr \rightarrow lumi-F phototransformation is an activated process with E_a close to that of the Pr \rightarrow lumi-R photoreaction [248] and (iii) the quantum yield of the Pfr \rightarrow Pr phototransformation is close to that of the forward photoprocess [112,158,213,356]. It is obvious that the sum of the constants of the radiationless relaxation, $k_d + k_p$, should be 2-3 orders of magnitude higher than $k_{\rm f}$ in Pfr, even at low temperatures, in contrast with Pr, where they are comparable. $(k_f \text{ should be about})$ the same in Pfr and Pr because the oscillator strength does not change much upon the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation.) The relationship between the temperature-dependent and temperature-independent constants of the excitation deactivation, k_{d} and k_{p} , should be such that at ambient temperatures $k_{\rm p} > k_{\rm d}$, i.e., the main channel of deactivation is photoreaction, and at low temperatures the situation is reverse, $k_{\rm p} < k_{\rm d}$. The picture is similar to the one observed for the $Pr \rightarrow lumi-R$ phototransformation. The higher value of the relaxation constants in Pfr than in Pr is likely to be connected with a higher degree of kinetic flexibility in a less rigid surrounding of the chromophore in Pfr. This is suggested by the fact that the absorption spectrum of Pfr is more diffuse than that of Pr (there is no or only a very small vibrational satellite at 670 nm) and that the thermal relaxation from Pfr to Pr could take place in the dark (dark reversion). It should be also mentioned that neither phytochromobilin nor denatured P in the Pr form show any photochemistry, while those in Pfr do [243]. It should be noted, however, that in general the two observations - the absence of fluorescence and the existence of a potential barrier for the photoreaction in the excited state of Pfr are of a conflicting nature: the absence of emission implies a very fast photochemical and other deactivating processes and this, in its turn, demands that the potential curve in the excited state between Pfr and lumi-F has a barrier-less profile.

7. Transformations of the intermediates of the phytochrome cycle

The initial photoreactions of Pr and Pfr lead to the formation of the first photoproducts unstable at ambient temperatures, which are characterized by excess energy and which are capable of initiating a succession of endergonic dark reactions leading eventually to the appearance of the respective end products, Pfr and Pr.

7.1. Kinetics of the transformation

In the early works on flash-photolysis in the time interval from 0.2 ms to several min and on steady state low-temperature absorption spectroscopy [24,170,171,217] it was established that: (1) The phototransformations of Pr and Pfr take place via several intermediate forms. (2) No intermediates on the two pathways are common. (3) Parallel reactions of phototransformation exist. (4) Small positive entropy in the dark reactions suggests minor changes in the protein conformations [217]. Kinetic measurements with microsecond time resolution including double-flash experiments on 'large' and native P [51,73,124,127,128,220,221,246,273] basically confirmed earlier observations held primarily on 'small' P. According to [128], the phototransformation from Pr to Pfr at physiological temperatures include four sequential intermediates: lumi-R, meta-Ra, meta-Rb' (different from meta-Rb at low temperatures [75]) and meta-Rc. The decay process consists of three parallel reaction components, which differ by approx. one order of magnitude in their rate constants [127,221,273]. The pathways of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation in vivo are in principle the same as in vitro [125].

In the recent investigation, however, Zhang et al. [377] have challenged the validity of the earlier kinetic measurements on the grounds that they were carried out and analyzed separately at different wavelength and that this is not considered to be sufficient to determine the spectra of the intermediates and to resolve the mechanism of the phototransformation. They suspect that the transient spectra in [77,128,273] resulted from the absorption of multiple intermediates rather than a unique one. The authors obtained transient difference absorption spectra on the 124 kDa oat P after laser photolysis at 10°C. The global analysis of the data shows that the phototransformation from Pr to Pfr involves five kinetic intermediates with the lifetimes of 7.4 and 89.5 μ s and 7.6, 42.4 and > 266 ms (lumi-R1, lumi-R2, meta-Ra1, meta-Ra2, and meta-Rc). The decay times of 7.4 and 89.5 μ s were comparable with 11 and 102 μ s in [246] and 14.5 and 217 μ s in [51]. The data are compatible with the kinetic models involving two parallel pathways, or a sequential pathway with equilibria

at certain stages. The formation of Pfr involves an unbranched reaction (see Fig. 10).

In [266] the first steps in the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation in oat 124 kDa P were investigated by two laser/two color flash photolysis technique and analyzed using the global analysis algorithm. Three kinetic models, which might be applied to the observed multiexponential I700 decay, were considered: parallel, sequential and equilibrium. It was believed that the kinetic behavior of the system upon second flash could help to solve the problem. The experimental picture was, however, complicated by the appearance of a new intermediate(s) by the second laser excitation. Thus, at present there is no unequivocal answer to the problem. The authors, however, favor the parallel model based on the most probable spectrum for a particular transient species. It is also concluded that Pr is not a mixture of various chromoproteins differing significantly in their absorption spectra and transient decay kinetics.

7.2. Low temperature absorption spectroscopy of the intermediates

The picture obtained with the use of low-temperature technique (see for review [148,311]) was in many respects similar to that observed with the time-resolved method: appearance of the first stable intermediate, two other intermediates (with lower absorbance) were observed upon temperature increase, two intermediates were found in the reverse reaction, and the intermediate with lower extinction coefficient preceded the formation of Pr. In the recent studies the most elaborated characterization of the interme-





Fig. 10. Calculated transient difference absorption spectra of native oat phytochrome at 10° C following 7 ns laser photolysis of the red P form (left panel) and plausible kinetic models (A–C) for its transformation (right panel). The spectra were obtained from the experimental ones with the use of global analysis assuming five intermediates (lumi-R1, lumi-R2, meta-Ra1, meta-Ra2, and meta-Rc) with an apparent rate constants in a decreasing order as labeled. (Modified from [377].)



Fig. 11. Simplified energy level diagram of the phytochrome photocycle reflecting (i) changes of the chromophore configuration and energy storage in the photoreactions and (ii) dark relaxations of the photoproducts involving changes of the apoprotein conformation (based primarily on the data in [75,107,238,241]). Temperature presents approximate limits of stability of the intermediates, position of their absorption maxima are given in parentheses. The scheme is to be considered in the light of recent publications suggesting, in particular, formation of at least two lumi-R and, possibly, two meta-Ra states from homogeneous Pr pool and/or existence of heterogeneous Pr populations which initiate parallel cycles of $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransfomations (see for discussion Section 7).

diates was given by the Rüdiger's group, which in major details supports the scheme by Kendrick and Spruit [148] (see Fig. 11). According to [75] lumi-R is stable at temperatures below -120° C. The next intermediate, meta-Ra, hypsochromically shifted and with lower extinction coefficient, is formed by dark relaxation of lumi-R or pure meta-Ra is formed by irradiation of Pr at -85 to -65° C. Meta-Rb (P_{bl}) is formed in degraded P and it has a strongly bleached longer wavelength band. Native P yields another product, meta-Rc, with the maximum at 710-716 nm and which was observed also in vivo [148]. It is suggested [75,309] that meta-Rc can phototransform into meta-Rb, which slowly decays back to meta-Rc, and to Pfr, in the dark. In the reverse reaction, Rüdiger et al. [241] have found two intermediates called lumi-F and meta-F at -140° C and at -60° C with the maxima at 675 and 660 nm, respectively, in native and degraded P. Kendrick and Spruit [148] have detected two species of meta F, meta-Fa and meta-Fb, and recently two subspecies of meta-Fa were reported [360] in the Pfr phototransformation.

7.3. Circular discriptions measurements of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoconversion

7.3.1. Red-far-red region

In the steady state CD measurements, the CD bands of Pr (positive) and Pfr (negative) practically coincide with

the respective absorption band of the chromophore and are attributed primarily to the asymmetrical binding of the chromophore in the apoprotein and distortion of its conformation from that of free chromophore in solution due to protein constrains [15,148]. It is believed [15] that the CD of a protein-bound chromophore is often due to asymmetrical electric dipole interactions with nearby aromatic amino acid residues in the chromophore binding pocket. This type of interaction contributes predominantly to CD, in particular, in the case of visual pigments. CD investigations of the intermediates of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoconversion have been carried out using the procedure of their entrapment at low temperatures [71] and by a time-resolved CD (TRCD) technique [15,38]. Low temperature CD spectra of the intermediates of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoconversion have been measured by Eilfeld and Eilfeld [71]. The difference CD spectrum at 163 K with a maximum at 695 nm corresponding to the difference absorption spectrum at this wavelength was assigned to lumi-R. The latter intermediate species (meta-R) obtained upon the rise of the temperature and Pfr were characterised by decreased CD in their absorption bands as compared to the CD signal of Pr and lumi-R. Substantial technical progress has recently made possible TRCD measurements of native phytochrome at physiological temperatures in the visible [15] and UV [38] spectral region. Björling et al. [15] have recorded transient CD spectra of 124 kDa oat phytochrome in the 500 to 800 nm spectral region from 500 ns to 500 ms after its photolysis at 283 K. It was found that the CD intensity of Pr drops down upon generation of the species after photolysis. Moreover, a striking observation in view of the above low-temperature CD studies [71] was that the appearance of the lumi-R absorption band in the absorption transition spectrum at 695 nm was not followed by the appearance of the CD band. This fact was interpreted by the authors [15] in terms of the relaxed and unrelaxed conformations of the chromopohore in the apoprotein pocket. Assuming that the absorption and CD of the chromophore in P are due to different kinds of the chromophore-apoprotein interaction, i.e., absorption spectra of Pr, Pfr and the photointermediates are associated with the protonation status of the tetrapyrrole and its interaction with charged amino acid residue(s) while CD spectra, with aromatic residue(s), the authors suggest that in strained, unrelaxed lumi-R at low temperatures chromophore moves away primarily from charged residues after the photoisomerization while the dipole interaction between the chromophore and aromatic residue(s) remains significant. In the relaxed conformation of lumi-R the chromophore binding pocket undergoes a conformational relaxation to accommodate the new chromophore orientation and this results in a decrease of the chromophore interaction with aromatic residue(s). Weak interaction between the chromophore and the aromatic residue(s) are expected also in the latter intermediates and Pfr because they exhibit small CD in their chromophore absorption bands both in the time-resolved and low-temperature studies. The authors also point out that the differences in the unrelaxed and relaxed lumi-R must lie in the apoprotein pocket and not at exposed sites of the protein since the first two steps of the Pr transformation are quite independent of macroscopic environmental conditions [77,246].

7.3.2. Far-UV region

Steady-state CD measurements detected a change in the ellipticity at 220 nm upon $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ conversion, indicating a 3-5% increase of α -helix content in the protein [36,315,359]. Recently TRCD technique with the time resolution of approx. 900 ns was applied by Chen and coworkers [38] to probe Pr, Pfr and intermediates of native 124 kDa oat P in the UV region in the time interval from 100 μ s to 1 s after illumination of Pr samples. The TRCD spectra also exhibited an increase in ellipticity at 220 nm in Pfr relative to Pr suggesting enhanced α -helical folding of the protein in Pfr (Fig. 12, left). Kinetics of the α -helical feature (Fig. 12, right) suggests that the increase in α -helical folding in Pfr is associated with decay of meta-Ra2 and/or meta-Rc with respective lifetimes of approx. 40 ms and > 266 ms as determined in [377]. The authors point to the fact that the structural changes are localized within the functionally important 6 kDa N-terminal domain, as suggested, in particular, by the absence of CD changes in the 'large' phytochrome [359], and also by suppression of the CD changes in native phytochrome by N-terminal-binding monoclonal antibodies [36]. Conformational changes of the N-terminal segment are also pointed at by proteolitic cleavage patterns [136], phosphorylation sites [375] and differential antibody binding [49]. Recently, the photoreversible conformational changes associated with the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ transformation have been probed by CD studies on dicot (pea) P [56]. It was shown that the secondary structure of pea P is very similar to the structure of monocot oat P determined in [38] and an increase in the α -helical folding of the apoprotein takes place when Pr is phototransformed to Pfr as with oat P. The authors believe this conformational change to be a general characteristic of all P's A.

7.4. Effect of environmental factors

The rate of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ transformation is influenced by the surrounding medium of the P molecule. In the earlier work [148] it was reported that the accumulation of the intermediates and formation of Pfr depended on the redox state of the plant. Later [76,77] it has been shown that the formation of meta-Rc and Pfr was retarded by increasing microviscosity of the medium suggesting the involvement of the apoprotein rearrangement. These data support the above results of the kinetics of the far-UV CD [38] suggesting that the changes of the protein structure take place at the later stages of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ conversion. Slight differences in kinetic parameters between native and in vivo P were brought about according to [124] by different micro-environment of P molecules, in particular by changes of pH. The latter was interpreted to mean that the proton uptake occurs in the final step from Pr to Pfr.

Lindemann et al. [169] investigated the effect of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and $Ca^{2+} \cdot calmodulin on the decay kinetics of the I700(1,2) intermediates of 124 kDa$ *Avena* $P. It was shown that <math>Ca^{2+}$ and Mg^{2+} selectively and sufficiently bind to P and that $Ca^{2+} \cdot calmodulin strongly decreased the Arrhenius parameters of I700(1,2) decay kinetics and blue shifted the I700 absorption maximum by 3–7 nm. The quantum yield of the overall <math>Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ conversion was reduced to almost 50% by 1 mM CaCl₂. The authors point to a possible specific site for Ca^{2+} -binding and modulation of the P action between the residues 20 and 60. However, they caution that the Ca^{2+} concentrations inducing the effects are much higher than those in a plant cell and that their findings do not necessarily lead to conclude that the Ca^{2+} binding to P is functionally relevant.

Bound monoclonal antibodies also alter the decay of the phototransformation intermediates I700(1,2) from native *Avena* P [168]. The strongest influence on these parameters was observed with OAT 8 (epitope between residues 624 and 686), which decreased by more than 50% the activation parameters of both components. This decrease was interpreted to result from an increased flexibility induced



Fig. 12. Far-UV time resolved circular dichroism spectra of native oat Pr versus Pfr at 1 s after 7 ns 640 nm laser flash at 10° C (the Pfr spectrum exhibits an increase in ellipticity at 220 nm indicative of the enhanced α -helical folding in Pfr relative to the Pr (heavy line) spectrum) (left) and temporal behavior of the α -helical feature (comparison of the experimental data with single exponential functions with decay rates of 113 (—), 159 (····), and 67 ms (- -)) (right) (From [38]).

by this antibody. The authors suggest that the OAT 8 epitope is functionally important during the decay of the I700(1,2) intermediates. For the case of I700(1), bound OAT 23 and OAT 25 (epitopes between residues 1 and 66) were shown to reduce the relatively small flexibility of these bonds in Pr. These data and the fact that the monomer molecular size has little effect on the initial stages of the Pr \rightarrow Pfr phototransformation suggest that the photoprocess mainly depends on the chromophore domain of the apoprotein and on the flexibility of the P molecule [124,246].

7.5. Photoreactions of the intermediates and their functional implication

The problem of the photoactivity of the intermediates of the Pr ⇔ Pfr phototransformation cycle arises in connection with their possible accumulation under normal daylight, when up to 50% of Ptot could be accumulated in the state of the slow-transforming intermediates (see [309] and the literature cited therein). They themselves undergo photoconversions which change the operation of the cycle and concentration of the physiologically active Pfr. The situation is somewhat different in the case of the short-lived lumi-R state, which does not accumulate under natural light conditions but whose photoreaction can be induced with laser pulses [139,257-260,309]. Stimulation of seed and spore germination was greatly reduced upon irradiation in the region of maximal lumi-R absorption at 690 nm with respect to that obtained with laser irradiation at 620 nm [257]. This is interpreted in terms of lumi-R, which is formed during the laser pulse and is partially reverted to Pr at the expense of Pfr when a relatively long laser pulse (10) ns) is used. It is essential in the context of the present discussion that, by measuring the effect of nanosecond laser pulses reversing the $Pr \rightarrow lumi-R$ photoreaction on germination of fern spores, it was established [259,260] that the decay of the lumi-R (I700) species and formation

of Pfr proceeds with various rate constants in agreement with the data of spectroscopic measurements (see above). The authors do not exclude, however, the possibility that different P pools could be responsible for the origin of the different rate constants. Physiological experiments on polarotropism of fern protonemata [140,141], in which effects of a polarized second flash on the suppression of the polarotropism were investigated, have also shown that dichroic orientation of I700 and Ibl are parallel to that of Pr and that the direction of the transition moment of P molecules should change at the last step in the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ transformation (see [361] for review on dichroic orientation of P).

8. Structural aspects of the phytochrome photoconversion

8.1. Vibrational spectroscopy

Resonance Raman (RR) spectra of the Pr form of 124 kDa oat P were obtained with far-red excitation (752 nm) at low (77 K) and ambient temperatures by Fodor et al. [85,86] (Fig. 13). The bands in the spectra were assigned by comparison with model compound spectra and vibrational calculations on protonated biliverdin dimethyl ester (BVDE) and by the characteristic shifts which occur upon deuteration of the pyrrole nitrogens. The lack of carbonyl intensity, the frequencies of the 1626 cm^{-1} which exhibited a downshift by 5 cm⁻¹ in D₂O, a 1644 cm⁻¹ C = C stretching mode, and an intense mode at 1326 cm^{-1} are all consistent, according to the authors view, with a protonated structure for the tetrapyrrole chromophore in Pr. Protonation of the pyrrole nitrogen is believed to be the cause of the approx. 50 nm red-shift of the protein-bound chromophore absorption compared to the chromophore in vitro.

Tokutomi et al. [345] have reported at 288 K the



Fig. 13. Comparison of the resonance Raman spectra of the Pr and Pfr forms of 124 oat phytochrome (752 nm probe, RT stands for room temperature) (left) and of the Raman spectra of Pfr in H_2O and D_2O at room temperature (right) (from [86]).

blue-excited (at 406.7 and 363.8 nm) RR spectra of Pr and Pfr and also of P_{bl} at different pH on 'large' pea P in H₂O and D₂O. The sample was R-FR illuminated at different pH in a microspinning cell to obtain different populations of Pr, Pfr and P_{bl} estimated from the absorption spectra. The authors ascribe the two prominent bands at 1630 and 1590 cm⁻¹ (and also the bands at 1546 and 1521 cm⁻¹) to Pfr. The 1625–1627 cm^{-1} bands are assigned to Pr in agreement with [85]. The 1625 cm^{-1} band, which shows a deuterium shift, presumably arises, according to the authors' view, from the C = NH or C = C stretching vibration of the pyrrole ring C. The deuteration shift of RR band (1590 cm⁻¹) was not recognized for Pfr (in contrast with 5 cm⁻¹ shift of the 1626 cm⁻¹ band in Pr), suggesting that the protonation state of ring C is the same in the Pfr and P_{bl} and differs from that of Pr. This is in agreement with proton release upon $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ transformation [90], deuteration effect on phototransformation kinetics [5,25] and the character of the absorption spectra at low temperatures [241].

Surface-enhanced resonance Raman scattering (SERRS) spectroscopy was used [83,235] to probe structural differences between the Pr and Pfr forms of 124 kDa oat P and of low-temperature intermediates in the transformation of Pfr to Pr. The SERRS spectra clearly differentiated between the Pr and Pfr forms in the high and medium-to-low wavenumber regions, especially in the bands 1624, 1596, 1458, 1414, 1252, 1163 cm⁻¹, the greatest differences between Pr and Pfr being in the first two bands, which were assigned to the C15-C16 and C10-C11, respectively. The difference was rationalized in terms of the model involving a Z Z Z (= 4Z, 10Z, 15Z) to Z Z E photoisomerization about the C15 = C16 bond. The authors expect some subtle protein-controlled structural differences between the chromophores of the two forms because relative intensity differences rather than spectral shifts are observed. The overall chromophore conformations are believed to be conserved for the native Pr and Pfr and slight out-of-plane ring twisting, accompanying the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoisomerization, is thought to be responsible for the large difference in the spectroscopic properties of the native Pr and Pfr chromophores. The authors have observed the emergence of new bands and substantial relative intensity differences in the SERRS spectra of a single form of P with a change of only 7 nm in excitation wavelength (406.7 and 413.1 nm). This suggests the existence of at least two, near-degenerate electronic states in this spectral region.

Recently Fourier Transform resonance Raman spectroscopy (FT-RR) was applied to native oat P by Hildebrandt et al. [116] with near-infrared excitation (1064 nm). The FT-RR spectra of Pr and Pfr are in agreement with conventional RR spectra [85,86], although with better accuracy and slightly different peak frequencies. The authors presented a detailed vibrational assignment: (1) C = Cstretching vibrations – the strongest bands in H₂O at 1639 and 1622 cm⁻¹, which reveal small isotopic shift upon H/D exchange, were assigned preferentially to C = Cvibrations of the methine bridges adjacent to the rings A and D in Pr. (2) N-H vibrations - the bands at 1375, 1319, 1241 and 1176 cm⁻¹ and also the broad and intense hump at 1100 cm^{-1} are attributed to the in plane (i.p.) bending and out of plane (o.o.p.) vibration. (3) C-H o.o.p. vibrations – the bands at approx. 800 cm^{-1} were attributed to the methine bridges. The authors expect from this analysis the non-coplanarity of ring D with respect to the other rings, which is in agreement with NMR studies of chromopeptides from Pr and Pfr [86,161,239,245,340]. It reveals the rotation around the double and single bonds and suggests that the Z, Z, E configuration is not relaxed. This may provide the driving force for the thermal reverse reaction of Pfr to Pr. Deprotonation of ring C in the Pfr form is suggested by the disappearance of the N-H o.o.p. vibration in Pfr. And finally, a slight distortion about the central C10 bridge is expected in both forms.

Ultraviolet resonance Raman (UVRR) spectra of the pigment in the Pr and Pfr forms have been recently obtained at ambient temperature by Toyama et al. [348] on 121 kDa pea P (excitation at 240 nm) and by Mizutani et al. [190] on intact, 'large' and 'small' pea P's (excitation at 244 nm). This technique provides information on conformational changes in the protein moiety accompanying the above-discussed primary photoprocesses of the chromophore. The results of these two pioneering works are in agreement with each other and can be summarized as follows: Major peaks of the UVRR spectra at 1621, 1553, 1358 and 1342 cm⁻¹ are assigned to tryptophan (Trp) based on the comparison with aqueous Trp solution. The majority of Trp residues are located in non-aliphatic (hydrophilic) microenvironments in Pr. Upon phototransformation into Pfr (and I_{bl}), the microenvironment around some Trp residues becomes hydrophobic due to conformational changes and hydrophobicity increase occurs mainly in the chromophore domain. Interactions between Trp residues and the chromophore occur in Pr and the strength of these interactions diminishes in the Pfr form.

Fourier transform infrared difference spectroscopy have been applied to phytochrome by Siebert and coworkers [277]. Films of 124 kDa oat phytochrome hydrated with ${}^{1}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ and ${}^{2}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ were used to obtain the initial IR spectra in the Pr and Pfr forms and their difference spectra. Comparison of the latter with protonated and unprotonated model compounds (Et8-bilindion and H2Et8-bilindion) and the ${}^{2}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ effect on the difference spectrum suggested that phytochrome in the Pr form was protonated in agreement with the resonance Raman studies [85]. The authors came to the conclusion that the Pfr form was also protonated.

8.2. Structural differences between the red- and far-redabsorbing phytochrome forms

Thus the result of the photoreaction and following dark transformations of the intermediates is the formation of the

physiologically active Pfr form from the initial inactive Pr. Structural differences which are believed to be the cause of the physiological activity of Pfr can be summarized as follows.

Chromophore. (1) The Pfr chromophore is different by its structure and electronic state from that in Pr. This is evidenced by the absorption spectrum of Pfr, approx. 60 nm red-shifted as compared with the spectrum of Pr, its more diffuse character and especially by the complete quenching of fluorescence in the Pfr form. (2) Analytical methods and Raman, FT-difference infrared and ¹H-NMR spectroscopy suggest that the basis of their structural differences is to be found in the state of the isomerization of the chromophore. The reaction is likely to involve photoisomerization about C15 = C16 double bond and also simultaneous rotation about C14-C15 single bond [240]. This requires the existence of the excited state surface with an activation barrier (which was experimentally shown, see above). (3) The question of the involvement of proton transfer in the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation is not yet settled [319]. The Raman spectroscopy studies support the photoreversible de-protonation of the chromophore in the late stages of the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ conversion. 114 and 62 kDa chromopeptides of pea P were found to first release and subsequently to take up protons during the $Pr \Leftrightarrow Pfr$ photoconversions, although with native 124 kDa P significantly less proton release and uptake were observed. The proton transfer between P and the medium may be prevented by C-terminal and probably N-terminal fragments [90]. The appearance of 315 nm band in the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ transient spectra in the 124 kDa oat P is believed to be a result of deprotonation of tyrosine residue(s) [377]. The data by Siebert et al. [277] indicate, however, that the chromophore is probably protonated in Pfr (although it should be mentioned that the experiments in this work were carried out on a solid film of the pigment). (4) The chromophore moves within the protein during photoconversion from Pr to Pfr as revealed by physiological experiments (see [361] for review) and linear dichroism studies (transition dipole moment rotates by 31°) [78]. Differences in tryptophane and tyrosine phosphorescence between the Pr and Pfr forms of 124 kDa P are interpreted in terms of energy migration resulting from changes in the distance or/and reorientation between the residues and the chromophore [318]. Recent investigations with the use of a novel fluorescence energy transfer method using labeled antibody fragments [82] also show that the chromophore moves relative to the N-terminus upon the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ phototransformation so that the distance between them decreases by approx. 10-12 A.

Apoprotein. These changes in the state of the chromophore are intimately connected with the alterations in the apoprotein. They are: (1) Differential exposure of Pfr chromophore relative to Pr in 124 kDa oat P as shown by means of oxidizing or reducing reagents [316,319]. The movement of the chromophore from its binding pocket

upon photoisomerization in the $Pr \rightarrow Pfr$ photoconversion is suggested also from the molecular modeling of phytochrome [205]. (2) Folding of the random coil structure at N-terminus into an α -helix (α -helical content increases by 3-5%) upon the Pr \rightarrow Pfr transformation, as revealed by circular dichroism measurements [36,38,207,320,359]. The data of [277] on FTIR and of [190] on UVRR seem to be in contradiction with the above CD studies suggesting that the photoreversible changes in the α -helix content is very low or even opposite to the reported. It should be noted, however, that Mizutani et al. [190] admit the relatively low resolution of their UVRR spectra, which does not allow them to discuss the changes of the Pr conformation quantitatively, and Siebert et al. [277] have used phytochrome in solid film, i.e., under the conditions in which amphiphilic N-terminal chain could fold into α -helix already in the Pr form as suggested in [92,206]. 3. Changes in the apoprotein are suggested by different thermostability of the two forms, see [165,360] and the literature cited therein and Pfr has a larger (by several hundreds Da) molecular mass [135,160]. 4. Differential sensitivity to proteolysis [160,162,358] and binding studies with monoclonal antibodies, which show that a number of antibodies preferentially bind to Pr [50,117], reveal major regions of photoconversion-induced conformational changes in P A (summarized in [222]): within a 10 kDa subdomain at Nterminus; at the junction of the principal N- and C-terminal domains; and around glutamate-354. Recent limited proteolysis studies [200] on 121 kDa pea phytochrome have also shown different sites of cleavage in the two forms: three in Pfr (arginine-746 to lysine-752, around glutamate-877 and arginine-1010) and only one in Pr (glutamate-38-arginine-62), suggesting different patterns of the apoprotein surface exposure in both forms. The surface-exposed hydrophobic regions in Pfr are believed to be involved in the biological activity of the pigment. Some of the above differences between Pr and Pfr are illustrated by the scheme proposed in Song's group [38,235,318] (see Fig. 14). According to this, the first event is a chromophore rearrangement in the chromophore pocket connected with the lumi-R formation as the result of the tetrapyrrole isomerization. This leads to the decrease of the distance between the chromophore and the N-terminus. The cis-trans isomerization and subsequent movement of the chromophore may introduce to the protein a strain that is manifested in part as a helical change. The final configuration of Pfr is assumed after stepwise protein rearrangement which relieves the strain.

9. Photoprocesses in related compounds

It seems expedient for further elucidation of the photophysical and photochemical properties of P to touch upon other systems containing bile pigments as a chromophore [255].

9.1. Phycobiliproteins: photoreaction versus energy transfer

Phycobiliproteins by their functions fall into two groups of pigments: the first, quantitatively major one, is the group of the light harvesting pigments of photosynthesis in cyanobacteria and red algae (phycoerythrin, phycocyanin, phycoerythrocyanin, allophycocyanin). Efficient energy migration between these pigments proceeds by the inductive resonance mechanism from the shorter wavelength species to the longer wavelength ones in the ps time interval [95,256]. Distinct routes of the energy transfer in the complex system of pigment species of phycobilisomes were followed by time-resolved fluorescence spectroscopy [118,119], by fluorescence sensitization measurements ([286,294] and the literature cited therein) and by theoretical calculations ([249] and the literature cited therein). One critical parameter for the efficient energy donation is high fluorescence yield, which is characteristic for all lightharvesting biliproteins. With the flexible chromophore of the pigment - viz. a linear tetrapyrrole - this is achieved



Fig. 14. Representation of the phototransformation of the Pr chromophore to the Pfr chromophore. The model incorporates: semi-extended conformation of the chromophore both in Pr and Pfr with conservation of the exocyclic dihedral angle at ring D by a chromophore-apoprotein interaction, protonation of ring C, reorientation and more exposed nature of the Pfr chromophore, increase in α -helical folding of the N-terminus. [235].

by the rigidity of the immediate protein surrounding of the chromophore restricting the freedom of its torsional motion (see Section 3.3 and [262,263]). According to [279,303] this may result in the increase of the activation barrier for the photoreaction in the excited state and slowing down the radiation-less deactivation processes. Our estimations of E_a for the fluorescence decay in phycoerythrin and phycocyanin gave values higher than 100 kJ mol⁻¹ (Sineshchekov, unpublished data), which certainly cannot be overcome at ambient temperatures.

The second group are photomorphochromes, the functional pigments which have not vet been isolated, and phycochromes, which are isolated and which are capable of photochromic transformations but whose function is unknown [16]. The most investigated of the phycochromes is phycochrome $b-\alpha$ -subunit of phycoerythrocyanin (PEC). Its chromophore, phycoviolobilin, undergoes photochromic transformations under orange/green light similar to those observed for P [11,12,153,154,186,189,276]. Molecular mechanism of the PEC photoconversion includes Z/Ephotoisomerization of the double bond between rings C and D. Determination of the detailed molecular structure of PEC [66] allowed theoretical analysis of the molecular mechanism of its photoreversible photoconversion [253,254]. General conclusions from these works can be summarized as follows. First, in the ground-state, protein electrostatic and steric effects determine isomerization barrier (which is about 60 kJ mol⁻¹ for thermal isomerization). Chromophore geometry, in particular, its $\Delta 15$ configuration, determines the active-site dynamics and the character of the torsional motion. The chromophore is fully protonated and its charged state is stabilized by a small set of strong local interactions (complex counter-ion - two carboxylate groups, one arginine and one tyrosine). The counter-ion network and the chromophore protonation site are only slightly affected by a ground state $\Delta 15$ -Z-E isomerization of the chromophore, i.e., the protonation states are conserved. The excited states are localized on the chromophore and have an admixture of electron transfer states from nearby amino acids. The excited-state torsional potential surface shows a negative barrier for isomerization and trapping of an active complex. Strong coupling of excited states localized in the chromophore and charge transfer states from the surrounding polar residues provides favorable prerequisites for fast excited state crossing in competition with other deactivation processes. In other words, the excited state minima are located above the ground-state potential energy maxima along the photoisomerization coordinate and this provides a potential surface that is optimal for rapid and efficient photochemical isomerization.

Thus, competition between the photochemical and radiative routes of the excitation deactivation in phycobiliproteins depends on the state of the chromophore in the protein surrounding. This is evidenced also by the fact that loosening of the chromophore fixation in unfolding algal biliproteins (as the result of increasing temperature or urea concentration) quenches its fluorescence and allows photoreaction (see [240] and the literature cited therein). In agreement with the above discussion and the advanced schemes [279,303], the chromophore-protein interaction determines the height of the energy barrier (E_a) of the photoreaction and, eventually, its rate constant. This, in its turn, determines the functional role of the pigment as a photosensitizer or light harvester.

9.2. The complex of bilirubin with human serum albumin

The above opinion gains support from the in vitro investigations of the photophysical and photochemical properties of the complex bilirubin (BR) (4Z,15Z-bilirubin-IX α') human serum albumin (BR/HSA) in which the chromophore is uncovalently incorporated in the protein. (It is not a biliprotein in the common sense and does not perform photobiological functions, but is involved in the transport of BR to the liver for processing and excretion.) The features of the photophysical and photochemical processes in BR/HSA (reviewed in [163]) show certain similarity to those of the photoprocesses described above for the P phototransformation: (i) $\phi_{\rm F}$ is low at room temperature ($\phi_{\rm F} = 0.003$), but increases enormously reaching 0.92 at T < 120 K; (ii) $\tau_{\rm F}$ at room temperature is calculated to be approx. 10 ps; (iii) no phosphorescence has been observed at 77 K; (iv) the complex is photoactive and undergoes $Z \rightarrow E$ isomerization at 14,15 double bond with the yield of $\phi_{\rm P} = 0.2$; (v) $\phi_{\rm P}$ drops down practically to 0 along with the rise of $\phi_{\rm F}$ upon lowering of temperature to T < 120 K. All the parameters and their changes with temperature were consistent according to [163] with operation of an activated (temperature-dependent) twisting about the 14,15 double bond in the excited singlet state. The activation barrier ($E_a = 23 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$) was attributed to viscous drag in the protein environment. The twisting, which is very rapid (approx. 10 ps), competes with fluorescence, which is itself faster than other deactivation modes. In the twisted geometry, the excited state and ground state potential surfaces are brought together thus allowing very fast conversion from the excited to the ground state. And finally, efficiency in the $Z \rightarrow E$ isomerization is also due to partitioning of the twisted states: relaxation in the ground state returns the molecule to its original geometry or to the configurational $(Z \rightarrow E)$ isomer. Thus, by all the above parameters this system can be considered up to a point as a physical model of the initial photoprocesses in Pr.

10. Comparative analysis of the photoprocesses in phytochromes and rhodopsins

The comparison of the two different classes of photochromic pigments – biliproteins and retinal proteins – is prompted by two major considerations. First, rhodopsins are the most important class of photobiological pigments which mediate the processes of vision in animals (for a review see [14,376]) and of phototaxis in unicellular motile algae Chlamydomonas [87,174] and in halobacteria [334]. The well investigated bacteriorhodopsin (BRh) also serves a photoenergetic function as a light-driven proton pump in Halobacteria [8,14,334]. Second, biliproteins and retinal proteins, in spite of their chemical differences, have much in common by the character of their molecular organization and by the nature of their photoprocesses (in particular, such features as flexible chromophores covalently bound to and specifically interacting with apoproteins, isomerization step in the initial photoreaction, stepwise transformation of the intermediates in the photocycles, existence of complex systems of signal transduction).

It is obvious that the excited states of the pigments and initial stages of the photoprocesses are to be considered first as a ground to establish common principles of their photochemistry. This becomes possible, in particular, because fluorescence spectroscopy has been also applied to the investigation of (bacterio)rhodopsin (see the reviews [68,96,166,293]) and here I will briefly summarize some of the results which are relevant to the current discussion.

10.1. Excited states, fluorescence and photoreactions of (bacterio)rhodopsin

In [290,291] it was shown that the emission of BRh is located beyond 550 nm, has a well resolved vibrational structure and low quantum yield even at low temperatures (77 K). The fluorescence proved to be heterogeneous. Three major components were distinguished by their fluorescence and photochemical properties: (1) photoactive and nonfluorescent even at low temperatures - trans-BRh and bathoproducts of *trans*-BRh and 13-cis-BRh ($\phi_{\rm F}$ < 10^{-4}); (2) photoactive and fluorescent – 13-cis-BRh and iso-BRh (the latter is formed from *trans*-BRh upon illumination at low temperatures and is very similar to it in all respects except higher yield of fluorescence) ($\phi_{\rm F}$ is 4. 10^{-4} for 13-cis-BRh and 10^{-3} for iso-BRh) (Fig. 15) and (3) modified BRh species with relatively high quantum yield of fluorescence ($\phi_{\rm F} > 10^{-2}$ at 77 K) and low photochemical activity [283,285,290,291]. This group includes also BRh incorporating artificially altered chromophores (e.g., acetylenic analog) with reduced flexibility [9,10].

A similar picture was observed with rhodopsin (Rh). Initially it was considered to be nonfluorescent [30,166]. It was shown, however, that the photoactive states of Rh in frog [284] and cattle [292] emit in the region 600-650 nm with quantum yields at 77 K of $(6 \pm 2) \cdot 10^{-4}$ and 10^{-3} , respectively (Fig. 15). Doucas et al. [65] have observed fluorescence of squid and cattle Rh in the region 620-640 nm with the yield 10^{-5} at room temperature. Fluorescence of the bathoproduct of Rh was not detected, even at low temperatures [284,292]. At the same time, fluorescence of



Fig. 15. Fluorescence emission and excitation spectra of bacteriorhodopsin (upper panel) and cattle rhodopsin (lower panel) at 77 K. Bacteriorhodopsin: emission (a) and excitation (b, points) spectra of *iso*-BRh which is formed from *trans*-BRh upon illumination at 77 K (1,1') and 13-*cis*-BRh (2,2'). (1') Absorption spectrum of light-adapted purple membrane (a mixture of *trans*-BRh and *iso*-BRh states); (2') absorption spectrum of 13-*cis*-BRh. The excitation spectra are constructed by the initial slope of the fluorescence intensity changes (α) in the photoreaction (c), fluorescence emission, by the amplitude of the variable fluorescence (ΔF) [283]. Rhodopsin: emission (1), excitation (2, points), and absorption (2, solid line) spectra [292]. Points are an average of 3–10 measurements, vertical bars, standard deviation, position of the maxima are given in nm.

crawfish meta-Rh was registered in [54] at room temperature with the maxima at 670 and 515 nm in the emission and excitation spectra and the yield of $(1.6 \pm 0.4) \cdot 10^{-3}$. Fluorescence of relatively high yield was observed in the modified Rh in which *cis-trans* isomerization was slowed down [96]. Analysis of the fluorescence characteristics of BRh and Rh allows certain generalization with respect to the properties of the excited states of the two pigments (see [293] for review).

Fluorescence quantum yield. This characteristic is the most important and, at the same time, the most variable for the different species. It drops down more than 10 fold by the temperature increase from 77 K to room temperature. E_a for the fluorescent BRh species, iso-BRh, was estimated [290,291] to be in the region 1.2–4.2 kJ mol⁻¹ in the temperature interval where the bathoproduct is stable, 77–120 K. This agrees with the notion that the activation barrier for photoreaction of BRh is low. The yield of Rh fluorescence is also strongly dependent on temperature.

The fluorescence yield of BRh and Rh does not depend on the wavelength of excitation. And finally, there is a reverse correlation of the quantum yield of the fluorescence and photochemical activity of the pigment species: the lowest quantum yield is in the photoactive species while the highest, in the modified photoinactive states.

Lifetimes of the excited states and the rate of photochemical reactions. Calculations of the real lifetimes give values in the range 0.7–70 ps. On the other hand, direct measurements of the lifetimes also give variable values and there is good correlation of the calculated and measured parameters. This complex picture reflects the existence of different species of BRh and Rh. There is a good correlation between the fluorescence lifetimes and the times of the photoreaction. This correlation points to the fact that the emission belongs to the allowed transition which competes with the photoreaction.

Fluorescence spectra. They are characterized by much more pronounced vibrational structure than that of the absorption (excitation) spectra, in other words, they do not follow the mirror image relationship (Fig. 15). The violation of the mirror image relationship suggests [202], that changes of the chromophore structure and of its immediate surrounding take place already in the excited state and that the emission proceeds from the state with altered molecular and vibronic structure. Because the emission spectra are more structured one can expect, by analogy with the spectra of stilbenes [84], that these changes of the structure in the excited state remove steric hindrance and the chromophore adopts a more planar conformation. These events might represent the first stage of light energy stabilization in the pigments, which precedes the formation of the ground state of the initial photoproduct.

Fluorescence polarization. The emission is highly polarized and its degree does not depend on the wavelength of emission and excitation. Directions of the transitions are the same both in absorption and emission. This suggests that structural changes in the excited state do not lead to substantial changes in the direction of the transitional moment in the chromophore.

These data point to the participation of the singlet excited states of the pigments in the photoreactions and the energies of 0-0 transitions are estimated to be about 1.7 eV for BRh and 1.9-2.0 eV for Rh.

In general we may conclude that the excited states and initial photoprocesses in P and (bacterio)rhodopsin have a number of fundamental common properties and that the scheme of the electronic levels of the red-absorbing P form and its initial photoproduct and transitions between them presented in Fig. 8 is applicable also to (bacterio)rhodopsin.

10.2. Photocycles

At ambient temperatures Rh and BRh (in its *trans*- and 13-cis-forms) undergo respectively the photobleaching se-

quence [376] and photocycle [9,178,183,335]. The primary event is photoisomerization - cis-trans in the case of Rh and 13-cis-BRh and trans-cis in the case of trans-BRh (see [14] for review). In spite of the different locations and directions of the isomerization, energy is stored in the photoreaction and all the subsequent reactions are thermal. In [291] we have postulated that isomerization serves a function of separation of the active groups in both pigments. A similar view was developed by Honig et al. [122] who consider isomerization as a means of intramolecular charge separation and as a universal mechanism applicable to other systems with flexible chromophores. Energy stabilization in the photoreaction and its spectral effects are explained in agreement with this model by the increase of the electrostatic interaction between the chromophore and the apoprotein. Recent models of the primary events in Rh and BRh are discussed in detail in [14]. Photoreactions are followed by restructuring of the apoprotein, which eventually leads to the photobiological effect. Rüdiger et al. [241] have applied the general considerations of Honig et al. to the cycle of P phototransformation (see above). And finally it should be noted that the heterogeneity of the photoactive BRh species implies the existence of several cycles of BRh [7,285], which is analogous to the existence of parallel cycles in P initiated by the subspecies of P A (see [302] and above).

10.3. Protein dynamics

Frauenfelder [89] advances several substantial points of general importance on the protein dynamics deduced from myoglobin investigations. First is the necessity of including friction in all electronically controlled reactions and the formation of intermediate states in the protein reactions. Second, complexity of the system is explained by the existence of conformational substates of the protein with slightly different tertiary structures, each with a somewhat different barrier height for the reactions. Protein dynamics includes two types of motion: first, transitions from substate to substate (equilibrium fluctuations) and nonequilibrium motions from one state to another (functionally important motions) (in the terminology of the present discussion the substates = states and states = intermediates). And finally, Frauenfelder introduces the concept of a proteinquake which takes place in the system under stress in which strain energy is stored when the stress is relieved. The system returns to equilibrium in a series of steps which can be followed by spectroscopic markers (chromophores in the case of pigments). The occurrence of several steps - functionally important motions - implies, according to the author, several tiers of conformational substates and suggests a hierarchical model for protein substates. This picture was suggested to be applicable to BRh. I believe from the above analysis that P, in spite of its higher complexity, also fits this picture by all the above criteria.

11. Conclusion

Two aspects in the problem of the heterogeneity of P deserve special attention. These are the existence (i) of several P's differing in the primary structure of the apoprotein and (ii) of different species within one P with one and the same 'chemical' or 'molecular' structure of the apoprotein. Considering the first aspect, it should be said that different P gene products, which vary by their physiological functions, were unequivocally shown to exist in the cell, although spectroscopic and photochemical properties are known primarily for P A. Recent advances in the genetics and photophysiology of P apoprotein mutants and development of the in vivo fluorescence spectroscopy of P promises rapid progress in our understanding of the photochemical properties of types other than P A and the role of the chromophore interaction with the apoprotein and individual residues by which the P's differ may thus be elucidated. Very promising in this context are the experiments with gene-engineered deletion and site-specific mutant P's.

Much less is known about the possibility of the existence of different P's within one gene product, which could be due to posttranslational modification of the pigment. Heterogeneity within one P pool (phyA) is currently connected with possible modification of the apoprotein, which could account for the appearance of membranebound fraction of the pigment. Preliminary data suggest that the membrane-bound fraction is present in the cell and is not an artefact of the extraction procedure. Further parallel investigations of fractionated and in vivo P with the use of immunochemistry and spectroscopy are needed (i) to prove the fact of the existence of P associated with other proteins, (ii) to understand the nature of the associates and (iii) to determine the functional significance of such an association. In the case of affirmative answers to these questions, the problem arises of the existence of posttranslationally modified species within the other pigment pools - phyB, phyC and others - which would substantially widen the number of potentially different functional states of P.

The second aspect, heterogeneity of P within each single chemical entity, seems to be important for the elucidation of the nature of the initial photochemical processes. In the literature, there are two points of view on the origin of this heterogeneity. According to the first one, the observed multiexponentiality of fluorescence decay and photoreaction kinetics in the ps time domain is a reflection of the heterogeneity of the excited states which originate from a homogeneous ground-state population. The other view is that the heterogeneity exists already at the level of the pigment ground state and is connected with the existence of different conformers of the chromophore which are in a thermodynamic equilibrium with each other. The conformers differ by the rate constant of the photoreaction although the extent of the Pr \rightarrow Pfr phototransformation

remains practically the same. If the second point is correct then the problem of structure-function relationship arises with respect to the photochemical reaction. In other words, it is necessary to understand the nature of chromophoreapoprotein interactions which are optimized to adjust the barriers for photoisomerization. This would allow us to come closer to the elucidation of the catalytic action of the apoprotein towards its own chromophore. The question of the heterogeneity of the initial Pr state is closely related to the heterogeneity of the intermediates of the P cycle suggesting the existence of several cycles and, probably, of different states of the physiologically active Pfr form.

On the basis of a number of its principal photophysical and photochemical properties, P seems to be closely related to retinal proteins and substantially differ from the relative light-harvesting biliproteins. Such a similarity of the structurally dissimilar photochromic pigments and dissimilarity of structurally related pigments permits from the conceptual point of view the elucidation of the most essential features of the organization of the photochromic pigments which are necessary and sufficient for the effective photochemistry.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to F. Litvin, R. Lozier and A. Sineshchekov for their critical reading of the manuscript and helpful discussions. The work was supported in part by the Russia Foundation for the Fundamental Investigations, Grant 93-04-7117 and by the International Science Foundation, Grant NB7000.

References

- Abe, H., Takio, K., Titani, K. and Furuya, M. (1989) Plant Cell Physiol. 30, 1089–1097.
- [2] Adamse, P., Jaspers, P.A.P.M., Bakker, J.A., Wesselius, J.C., Heeringa, G.H., Kendrick, R.E. and Koornneef, M. (1988) J. Plant Physiol. 133, 436–440.
- [3] Adamse, P., Jaspers, P.A.P.M., Kendrick, R.E. and Koornneef, M. (1987) J. Plant Physiol. 127, 481-491.
- [4] Ahmad, M., Lin, C., Chan, J.W.Y. and Cashmore, A.R. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants, Tirrenia, Pisa, Italy, July 11–15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 7.
- [5] Aramendia, P.F., Ruzsicska, B.P., Braslavsky. S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1987) Biochemistry, 26, 1418–1422.
- [6] Bagnall, D., King, R.W., Whitelam, G.C., Boylan, M.T., Wagner, D. and Quail, P.H. (1994) Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20-25, 1994, abstract No. 1060.
- [7] Balashov, S.P., Karneeva, N.V. and Litvin, F.F. (1990) Biologitcheskie membrany (Russ.) 6., 586-592.
- [8] Balashov, S.P. and Litvin, F.F. (1985) Photochemical conversions of bacteriorhodopsin. 164 p. Moscow University Publ. House, Moscow.
- [9] Balashov, S.P., Litvin, F.F. and Sineshchekov, V.A. (1988) In

Physicochemical Biology Reviews, Soviet Scientific Reviews, Section D, Vol. 8, pp. 1–61.

- [10] Balashov, S.P., Sineshchekov, V.A., Mitsner, B.I., Khodonov, A.A., Khitrina, L.V. and Kurella, E.G. (1988) in Proceedings of Yamada Conference 21 on Molecular Physiology of Retinal Proteins, Osaka, Japan, May 30-June 3, 1988 (Hara, T., ed.), pp. 345-346. Yamada Sci. Foundation, Osaka.
- [11] Bekasova, O.D. (1993) Biofizika (Russ.) 38, 1003-1024.
- [12] Bekasova, O.D., Sineshchekov, V.A., Brykina, G.D., Sineshchekova, E.V. and Grishina, L.E. (1994) Biokhimiya (Russ.) 59, 1042-1053.
- [13] Biermann, B.J., Pao, L.I. and Feldman, L.J. (1994) Plant Physiol. 105, 243-251.
- [14] Birge, R.R. (1990) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1016, 293-327.
- [15] Björling, S.C., Zhang, C.-F., Farrens, D.L., Song, P.-S. and Kliger, D.S. (1992) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114, 4581–4588.
- [16] Björn, G.S. and Björn, L.O. (1976) Physiol. Plant. 36, 297-304.
- [17] Borthwick, H.A. (1972) In: Phytochrome (K. Mitrakos and W. Shropshire, Jr., eds.) pp. 3–23. Academic Press, New York.
- [18] Borthwick, H.A. and Hendricks, S.B. (1960) Science 132, 1223-1228.
- [19] Borthwick, H.A., Hendricks, S.B., and Parker, M.W. (1952) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 38, 929–934.
- [20] Boylan, M. Bruce, W., Dehesh, K., Deng, X.-W., Parks, B., Sharrock, R., Somers, D., Tepperman, J., Wagner, D. and Quail, P.H. (1992) In: Plant Photoreceptors and Photoperception. British Photobiology Society, St John's College, Cambridge, September 20-23, 1992, 28 p., no pp. numbers.
- [21] Boylan, M., Douglas, N., and Quail, P.H. (1994) Plant Cell 6, 449-460.
- [22] Boylan, M.T. and Quail, P.H. (1989) The Plant Cell 1, 765-773.
- [23] Boylan, M.T. and Quail, P.H. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 10806-10810.
- [24] Braslavsky, S.E., Matthews, J.I., Herbert, H.J., de Kok, J., Spruit, C.J.P. and Schaffner, K (1980) Photochem. Photobiol. 31, 417–420.
- [25] Brock, H., Ruzsicska, B.P., Arai, T., Schlamann, W., Holzwarth, A.R., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1987) Biochemistry 26, 1412-1417.
- [26] Brockmann, J., Rieble, S., Kazarinova-Fukshansky, N., Seyfried, M., and Schäfer (1987) Plant, Cell and Environ. 10, 105–111.
- [27] Brockmann, J. and E. Schäfer (1982) Photochem. Photobiol. 35, 555–558.
- [28] Brown, S.B., Houghton, J.D. and Vernon, D.I. (1990) J. Photochem. Photobiol., B: Biol. 5, 3-23.
- [29] Burke, M.J., Pratt, D.C. and Moscowitz, A. (1972) Biochemistry 11, 4025–4031.
- [30] Busch, G.E., Applebury, M.L., Lamola, A.A. and Rentzepis, P.M. (1972) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 69, 2802–2806.
- [31] Butler, W.L., Norris, K.H., Siegelman, H.W. and Hendricks, S.B. (1959) Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci. USA 45, 1703–1708.
- [32] Cabra yPoch, H.L., Peto, C.A. and Chory, J. (1993) Plant J. 4, 671-682.
- [33] Casal, J.J. and Kendrick, R.E. (1993) Plant Cell and Environment 16, 703-710.
- [34] Casal, J.J., Sanchez, R.A. and Vierstra, R.D. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 63.
- [35] Casal, J.J., Sanchez, R.A., and Vierstra, R.D. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 65.
- [36] Chai, Y.-G., Song, P.-S., Cordonnier, M.-M., and Pratt, L.H. (1987) 26, 4947–4952.
- [37] Chandok, M.R., Raghuram, N., Guron, K.K and Sopory, S.K. (1991) Beltsville Symposium XVI: Photomorphogenesis in Plants, Emerging Strategies for Crop Improvement. Book of Abstracts p.S44.

- [38] Chen, E.F., Parker, W., Lewis, J.W., Song, P.S. and Kliger, D.S. (1993) J. Amer. Chem. Soc. 115, 9854–9855.
- [39] Cherri, J.R., Hondred, D., Walker, J.M., Keller, J.M., Hershey, H.P., Vierstra, R.D. (1993) Plant Cell 5, 565-575.
- [40] Cherri, J.R., Hondred, D., Walker, J.M. and Vierstra, R.D. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 5039–5043.
- [41] Cherri, J.R. and Vierstra, R.D. (1994) In: Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 271– 300, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [42] Childs, K.L., Pratt, L.H. and Morgan, P.W. (1991) Plant Physiol. 97, 714–719.
- [43] Chory, J., Elich, T., Li, H.-M., Mochizuki, N., Nagpal, P., Pepper, A., Poole, D., Reed, J., Furuya, M. and Nagatani, A. (1994) Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20–25, 1994, Abstract 1052.
- [44] Chory, J., Peto, C.A., Ashbaughb, M., Saganich, R., Pratt, L.H. and Ausubel, F. (1989) The Plant Cell 1, 867–880.
- [45] Chory, J., Peto, C., Feinbaum, R., Pratt, L. and Ausubel, F. (1989) Cell 58, 991–999.
- [46] Clack, T., Mathews, S., Lavin, M. and Sharrock, R. (1994) Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20–25, 1994, Abstract 1056.
- [47] Colombano, C.G., Braslavsky, S.E., Holzwarth, A., and Schaffner, K. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 19–22.
- [48] Cope, M. and Pratt, L.H. (1992) Planta, 188, 115-122.
- [49] Cordonnier, M.-M., Greppin, H., Pratt, L.H. (1985) Biochemistry 24, 3246–3253.
- [50] Cordonnier, M.-M. (1989) Photochem. Photobiol. 49, 821-831.
- [51] Cordonnier, M.-M., Mathis, P. and Pratt, L.H. (1981) Plant Cell Physiol. 23, 733-740.
- [52] Cornejo, J., Beale, S.I., Terri, M.J. and Lagarias, J.C. (1992) J. Biol. Chem. 267, 14790–14798.
- [53] Correll, D.R., Steers, Jr, E., Towe, K.M. and Shropshire, W., Jr. (1968) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 168, 46–57.
- [54] Cronin, T. and Goldsmith, T.H. (1981) Biophys. J., 35, 653-664.
- [55] Deforce, L., Furuya, M. and Song, P.-S. (1993) Biochemistry 32, 14165-14172.
- [56] Deforce, L., Tokutomi, S. and Song, P.S. (1994) Biochemistry 33, 4918–4922.
- [57] Deforce, L., Tomizawa, K.-I., Ito, N., Farrence, D., Song, P.-S. and
- Furuya, M. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 10392–10396.
 [58] Dehesh, K., Bruce, W.B., and Quail, P.H. (1990) Science 250, 1397–1399.
- [59] Dehesh, K., Franci, C., Parks, B.M., Seeley, K.A., Short, T.W., Tepperman, J.M. and Quail, P.H. (1993) Plant Cell 5, 1081–1088.
- [60] Dehesh, K, Tepperman, J. Christensen, A.H. and Quail P.H. (1991) Mol. Gen. Genet. 225, 305–313.
- [61] Deng, X.-W. (1994) Cell 76, 423–426.
- [62] Deng, X.-W., Caspar, T. and Quial, P.H. (1991) Genes Devel. 5, 1172–1182.
- [63] Devlin, P.F., Rood, S.B., Somers, D.E., Quail, P.H. and Whitelam, G.C. (1992) Plant Physiol. 100, 1442–1447.
- [64] Devlin, P.F. and Whitelam, G.C. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11–15, 1993, Abstracts, p.70.
- [65] Doukas, A.G., Junnarkar, M.R., Alfano, R.R., Callender, R.H., Kakitani, T. and Honig, B. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81, 4790-4794.
- [66] Duerring, M., Huber, R., Bode, W., Ruembeli, R. and Zuber, H. (1990) J. Mol. Biol. 211, 633-644.
- [67] Durrm, S. and Scheuerlein, R. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 73-82.
- [68] Ebrey, T.G.(1982) In: Biological Events Probed by Ultrafast Laser Spectroscopy (A.N.Y. Martonosi, ed.) pp. 271–280. Acad. Press, New York.

- [69] Edgerton, M.D. and Jones, A.M. (1992) Plant Cell 4, 161-171.
- [70] Edgerton, M.D. and Jones, A.M. (1993) Biochemistry, 32, 8239– 8245.
- [71] Eilfeld, P.H. and Eilfeld P.G. (1988) Physiol. Plant. 74, 169-175.
- [72] Eilfeld, P., Eilfeld, P. and Rüdiger, W. (1986) Photochem. Photobiol. 44, 761-769.
- [73] Eilfeld, P., Eilfeld, P., Vogel, J., Maurer, R. (1987) Photochem. Photobiol. 45, 825–830.
- [74] Eilfeld, P. and Rüdiger, W. (1984) Z. Naturforsch. 39c, 742-745.
- [75] Eilfeld, P. and Rüdiger, W. (1985) Z. Naturforsch. 40c, 109-114.
- [76] Eilfeld, P., Vogel, J. and Maurer, R (1987) Photochem. Photobiol. 45, 825–830.
- [77] Eilfeld, P., Vogel, J., Maurer, R. and Eilfeld, P.G. (1989) J. Photochem. and Photobiol. 3, 209–222.
- [78] Ekelund, N.G., Sundquist, C., Quail, P.H. and Vierstra, R.D. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 41, 221–223.
- [79] Elich, T.D. and Lagarias, J.C. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264, 12902– 12908.
- [80] Elich, T.D., McDonagh, A.F., Palma, L.A. and Lagarias, J.C. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264, 183–189.
- [81] Fallon, K. Shacklock, P. and Trewavas, A. (1993) Plant Physiol. 101, 1039-1045.
- [82] Farrens, D.L., Cordonnier, M.-M., Pratt, L.H. and Song, P.-S. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 725-733.
- [83] Farrens, D.L., Holt, R.E., Rospendowskii, B.N., Song, P.-S. and Cotton, T.M. (1989) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 111, 9162–9169.
- [84] Fisher G, Seger, G., Muszkat, K.A. and Fisher, E.J. (1975) J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2, 1569–1576.
- [85] Fodor, S.P.A, Lagarias, J.C. and Mathies, R.A. (1988) Photochem. Photobiol. 48, 129–136.
- [86] Fodor, S.P.A., Lagarias, J.C. and Mathies, R.A. (1990) Biochemistry 29, 11141–11146.
- [87] Foster, K.-W., Saranak, J., Patel, N., Zarrilly, G., Okabe, N., Kline, T. and Nakanishi, K. (1984) Nature 311, 756–759.
- [88] Franzes, S., White, M.J, Edgerton, M.D., Elliott, R.C. and Thompson, W.F. (1992) Plant Cell 4, 1519–1530.
- [89] Frauenfelder, H. (1987) in Biophysical Studies of Retinal Proteins (Ebrey, T.G., Frauenfelder, H., Honig, B. and Nakanishi, K., eds.), pp. 293-304, Dept. Physics, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- [90] Furuya, M. (1989) Adv. Biophys. 25, 133-167.
- [91] Furuya, M. (1993) Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol. 44, 617-645.
- [92] Furuya, M. and. Song, P.-S. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 105-140, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [93] Furuya, M., Tomizawa, K., Ito, N., Sommer, D., Deforce, L., Konomi, K., Farrence, D. and Song, P.-S. Phytochrome Properties and Biological Action (Thomas B. and Johnson, C.B., eds.), pp. 71–84, Springer, Berlin, and NATO Scientific Affairs Division.
- [94] Galland, P. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 847-855.
- [95] Glazer, A.N. (1984) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 768, 29-51.
- [96] Govindjee, R. and Ebrey, T.G. (1986) in Light Emission by Plants and Bacteria (Amesz, J. and Govindjee, R., eds.), pp. 15–20, Academic Press, New York.
- [97] Grill, R. (1972) Planta 108, 185-203.
- [98] Grimm, R. and Eckerskorn, C. (1991) Phtochem. Photobiol. 53, 699-700.
- [99] Grimm, R., Lottspeich, F. and Rüdiger, W. (1987) FEBS Lett. 225, 215–217.
- [100] Hahn, T.R., Song, P.-S., Quail, P.H. and Vierstra, R.D. (1984) Plant Physiol. 74, 755–758.
- [101] Halliday, K.J., Koornneef, M. and Whitelam, G.C. (1994) Plant Physiol. 104, 1311–1315.
- [102] Harter, K., Frohnmeyer, H., Kircher, S., Kunkel, T., Muhlbauer, S. and Schäfer, E. (1994) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 91, 5038–5042.

- [103] Hartmann, E., Klingenberg, B. and Bauer, L. (1983) Photochem. Photobiol. 38, 599-603.
- [104] Hartmann, E. and Pfaffmann, H. (1990) in Inositol Metabolism in Plants, pp. 259–275, New York, Toronto.
- [105] Haupt, W. and Weisenseel, M.H. (1976) in Light and Plant Development, pp. 63-74, Butterworth, London.
- [106] Hayer, A. and Gatz, C. (1992) Plant Mol. Biol. 20, 589-600.
- [107] Heihoff, K., Braslavsky, S. and Schaffner, K. (1987) Biochemistry 26, 1422–1227.
- [108] Heim, B., Jabben, M. and Schäfer, E. (1981) Photochem. Photobiol. 34 89-93.
- [109] Hendricks, S.B., Butler, W.L. and Siegelman H.W. (1962) J. Phys. Chem. 66, 2550–2555.
- [110] Hermann, G., Kirchhof, B., Appenroth, K.J. and Muller, E. (1983) Biochem. Physiol. Pflanz. 178, 177–181.
- [111] Hermann, G., Lippitsch, M.E., Brunner, H., Aussenegg, F.R. and Muller, E. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 13-18.
- [112] Hermann, G., Muller, E., Hermann, M. and Ullmann, Th. (1987) J. Prkt. Chemie 329, 804–810.
- [113] Hermann, G., Muller, E., Schubert, D., Wabnitz, H. and Wilhelmi, B. (1982) Biochiem. Physiol. Pflanz. 177, 687–691.
- [114] Hershey, H.P., Barker, R.F., Idler, K.B., Lissemore, J.L. and Quail, P.H. (1985) Nucleic Acids Res. 13, 8543–8559.
- [115] Heyer, A., Thomas, B. and Gatz, C. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 85.
- [116] Hildebrandt, P., Hoffman, A., Lindemann, P., Heibel, G., Braslavsky, S.E., Schaffner, K. and Schrader, B. (1992) Biochemistry 31, 7957–7962.
- [117] Holdsworth, M.L. and Whitelam, G.C. (1987) Planta 172, 539-547.
- [118] Holzwarth, A.R. (1986) Photochem. Photobiol. 43, 707-725.
- [119] Holzwarth, A., Bittersmann, E., Reuter, W. and Wermeyer, W. (1990) Biophys. J. 57, 133-145.
- [120] Holzwarth, A.R., Venuti, E., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1992) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1140, 59–68.
- [121] Holzwarth, A.R., Wendler, J., Ruzsicska, B.P., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1984) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 791, 265–273.
- [122] Honig, B., Ebrey, T.G., Callender, R.H., Dinur, U. and Ottolenghi, M. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 2503–2507.
- [123] Horwitz, B. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 327–352, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [124] Inoue, Y. (1987) in Primary Processes in Photobiology: Proc. 12th Taniguchi Symp., Fujiyoshida, Dec. 7–12, 1986, pp. 70–79, Berlin.
- [125] Inoue, Y. and Furuya. M. (1985) Plant Cell Physiol. 26, 813-819.
- [126] Inoue, H., Hamaguchi, H., Yamamoto, K.T., Tasumi, M. and Furuya, M. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 42, 423–427.
- [127] Inoue, Y., Konomi, K. and Fyruya, M. (1982) Plant Cell Physiol. 23, 731-736.
- [128] Inoue, Y., Rüdiger, W., Grimm, R. and Furuya, M. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 1077-1083.
- [129] Jabben, M. and Dietzer, G.F. (1978) Photochem. Photobiol. 27, 799-802.
- [130] Jabben, M., Heihoff, K., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1984) Photochem. Photobiol. 40, 361–367.
- [131] Jabben, M. and Holmes M.G. (1983) Encycl. Plant Physiol. 16B, 704-722, Springer, Berlin. .
- [132] Johnson, E., Bradley, M., Harberd, N.P. and Whitelam, G.C. (1994) Plant Physiol. 105, 141–149.
- [133] Johnson, E., Harber, N. and Whitelam, G. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11– 15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 87.
- [134] Jones, A.M. and Erickson, H.P. (1989) Photochem. Photobiol. 49, 479-483.
- [135] Jones, A.M. and Quail, P.H. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 2987-2995.
- [136] Jones, A.M. and Quail, P.H. (1989) Planta 178, 147-156.

- [137] Jones, A.M., Vierstra, R.D., Daniels, S.M. and Quail, P.H. (1985) Planta 164, 501–506.
- [138] Jordan, B.R. (1993) in Plant Photoreceptors and Photoperception British Photobiology Society, St John's College, Cambridge, September 20-23, 1992, 21 p., no pp. numbers.
- [139] Kadota, A., Inoue, Y. and Furuya, M. (1986) Plant Cell Physiol. 40, 361–367.
- [140] Kadota, A., Wada, M. and Furuya, M. (1982) Photochem. Photobiol. 35, 533-540.
- [141] Kadota, A., Wada, M. and Furuya, M. (1985) Planta 165, 30-35.
- [142] Kandori, H., Yoshihara, K. and Tokutomi, S. (1992) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114, 10958–19959.
- [143] Kay, S.A., Nagatani, A., Keith, B., Deak, M., Furuya, M. and Chua, N.H. (1989) Plant Cell 1, 775–782.
- [144] Keller, J.M., Shanklin, J, Vierstra, R.D. and Hershey, H.P. (1989) EMBO J. 8, 1005–1012.
- [145] Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M. (eds.) (1986) Photomorphogenesis in Plants, Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- [146] Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M. (eds.) (1994) Photomorphogenesis in Plants, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [147] Kendrick, R.E. and Nagatani, A. (1991) Plant J. 1, 133-139.
- [148] Kendrick, R.E. and Spruit, C.J.P. (1977) Photochem. Photobiol 26, 201–214.
- [149] Kern, R., Gasch, A., Deak, M., Kay, S.A. and Chya, N.-H. (1993) Plant Pysiol. 102, 1363–1364.
- [150] Koornneef, M and Kendrick, R.E. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 601-630, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [151] Koornneef, M. and Van der Knaap, B.J. (1983) Cucurbit Genet. Coop. Rpt. 6, 13.
- [152] Kraepiel, Y., Leydecker, M.T., Jullien, M., and Caboche, M. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 91.
- [153] Kufer, W. (1988) in Photosynthetic Light-Harvesting Systems Scheer and Schneider, eds.), pp. 89–92, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.
- [154] Kufer, W. and Björn, G.S. (1989) Physiol. Plant. 75, 389-394.
- [155] Kunkel, T., Tomizawa, K., Kern, R., Furuya, M., Chua, N.H., Schäfer, E. (1993) Eur. J. Biochem. 215, 587–594.
- [156] Lagarias, J.K. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 42, 811-820.
- [157] Lagarias, J.C., Djifroudi, B., Li, L., Terry, M.J. and Wahleithner, J.A. (1991) Beltsville Symposium XVI: Photomorphogenesis in Plants, Emerging Strategies for Crop Improvement. Book of abstracts, S57.
- [158] Lagarias, J.C., Kelly, J.M., Cyr, K.L. and Smith, Jr., W.O. (1987) Photochem. Photobiol. 46, 5-12.
- [159] Lagarias, J.C. and Lagarias, D.M. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86, 5778–5780.
- [160] Lagarias, J.C. and Mercurio, F.M. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260, 2415–2423.
- [161] Lagarias, J.C. and Rapoport, H. (1980) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 4821–4828.
- [162] Lagarias, J.C., Wong, Y.-S., Bekelman, T.R., Kidd, D.G. and McMichael, R.W., Jr. (1987) in Phytochrome and Photoregulation in Plants (Furuya, M., ed.), pp. 51-61, Academic Press, London.
- [163] Lamola, A.A. (1985) in Optical Properties and Structure of Tetrapyrroles (Blauer, G. and Sund, H., eds.), pp. 311-330. W. de Gruyter, Berlin.
- [164] Lamparter, T., Lutterbuse, P., Schneider-Poetsch, H.A.W. and Hertel, R. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 697–707.
- [165] Lapko, V.N., Kozhukh, G.V., Lyakhnovich, G.V. and Volotovsky, I.D. (1992) J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 12, 91–100.
- [166] Lewis, A. and Perreault, G.J. (1982) Methods Enzymol. 217-229.
- [167] Li, L. and Lagarias, J. C. (1992) J. Biol. Chem. 267, 204-210.
- [168] Lindemann, P., Braslavsky, S.E., Cordonnier, M.M., Pratt, L.H. and Schaffner, K.(1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 58, 417-424.

- [169] Lindemann, P., Schlamann, W., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1992), J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 14, 293–310.
- [170] Linschitz, H. and Kasche, V. (1967) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 58, 1059–1064.
- [171] Linschitz, H. and Kasche, V., Butler, W.L. and Siegelman, H.W. (1966) J. Biol. Chem. 241, 3395–3403.
- [172] Lippitsch, M.E., Hermann, G., Brunner, H., Muller, E. and Aussenegg, F.R. (1993) J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 18. 17-25.
- [173] Lippitsch, M.E., Riegler, H., Aussenegg, F.R., Hermann, G. and Muller, E. (1988) Biochem. Physiol. Pflanz. 183, 1-6.
- [174] Lipson, E.D. and Horwitz, B.A. (1991) in Sensory Receptors and Signal Transduction (Spudich, J.L. and Satir, B.H., eds.), pp. 1–64. Whiley-Liss, New York.
- [175] Liscum, E., and Hangarter, R.P. (1993) Plant Physiol. 103, 15-19.
- [176] Liscum, E. and Hangarter, R.P. (1993) Planta 191, 214-221.
- [177] Litts, J.C., Kelley, F.M. and Lagarias, J.C. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258, 11025–11031.
- [178] Litvin, F.F., Balashov, S.P. and Sineshchekov, V.A. (1975) Bioorganitchskaua Khimiya (Russ.) 1, 1767–1777.
- [179] Litvin, F.F. and Belyaeva, O.B. (1971) Biokhimiya (Russ.) 36, 615–622.
- [180] Litvin, F.F. and Krasnovsky, A.A. (1957) Dokl. Akad.Nauk SSSR 117, 106–109.
- [181] Litvin, F.F. and Krasnovsky, A.A. (1959) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Fiz. 23, 82–85.
- [182] Litvin, F.F. and Stadnitchuk, I.N. (1980) Fiziologiya Rastenii 27, 1024–1031.
- [183] Lozier, R.H., Niederberger, W., Ottolenghi. M, Sivorinovsky, G. and Stoeckenius, W. (1978) in Energetics and Structure of Halophilic Microorganisms (Caplan, S.R. and Ginzburg, M., eds.), pp. 123-141. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- [184] Mancinelli, A.L. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 211–270, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [185] Marmé, D. (1977) Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 28, 173-198.
- [186] Maruthi Sai, P.S., Siebzehnrubl. S., Mahajan, S. and Scheer, H. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 55, 119–124.
- [187] McCormac, A.C., Wagner D., Boylan, M.T., Quail, P.H., Smith H. and Whitelam, G.C. (1993) Plant J. 4, 19-27.
- [188] McCormac, A.C., Whitelam, G.C., Boylan, M.T., Quail, P.H. and Smith, H. (1992) J. Plant Physiol. 140, 707-714.
- [189] Maruthi Sai, P.S., Siebzehnrubl. S., Mahajan, S. and Scheer, H. (1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 57, 71–75.
- [190] Mizutani, Y., Tokutomi, S., Kaminaka, S. and Kitagava, T. (1993) Biochemistry 32, 6916–6922.
- [191] Mohr, H. (1966) Photochem. Photobiol. 5, 469-483.
- [192] Moon, D.-K., Jeen, G.-S. and Song, P.-S. (1984) Photochem. Photobiol. 39, Suppl. 84s.
- [193] Moon, D.-K., Jeen, G.-S. and Song, P.-S. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 42, 633-641.
- [194] Nagatani, A., Chory, J. and Furuya, M. (1991) Plant Cell Physiol. 32, 1119–1122.
- [195] Nagatani, A., Nishizawa, N.K., Mori, S., Kay, S.A., Chua, N.H., Furuya, M. (1993) Plant and Cell Physiology 34, 825–833.
- [196] Nagatany, A., Nishizava, N., Reed, J.W., and Chory, J. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 106.
- [197] Nagatany, A., Reed, J.W., and Chory, J. (1993) Plant Physiol. 102, 269–277.
- [198] Nagatani, A., Reid, J.B., Ross, J.J, Dunnewijk, A. and Furuya, M. (1990) J. Plant Physiol. 135, 667–674.
- [199] Nakasako, M., Wada, M., Tokutomi, S., Yamamoto, K.T., Sakai, J., Kataoka, M., Tokunaga, F. and Furuya, M. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 3-12.
- [200] Nakazawa, M., Hayashi, H., Yoshida, Y. and Manabe, K. (1993) Plant Cell Physiol. 34, 83-91.

- [201] Nakazawa, M., Saton, S., Furuya, M. and Fujii, T. (1990) Plant Cell Physiol. 31, 1243-1247.
- [202] Neporent, B.S. (1970) in Molecular Photonics (Krasnovskii, A.A. and Neporent, B.S., eds.), pp. 18-43. Nauka, Leningrad.
- [203] Neuhaus, G., Bowler, C., Kern, R. and Chua, N.-H. (1993) Cell 73, 937–952.
- [204] Neuhaus, G., Bowler, C. and Chua N.-H. (1994) Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20–25, 1994, abstract 1051.
- [205] Parker, W., Goebel, P., Ross, II, C.R., Song, P.-S. and Stezowski, J.J. (1994) Bioconjugate Chem. 5, 21–30.
- [206] Parker, W., Partis, W. and Song, P.-S. (1992) Biochemistry 31, 9413–9419.
- [207] Parker, W and Song, P.-S. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265, 17568-17575.
- [208] Parks, B.M., Jones, A.M., Adamse, P., Koornneef, M., Kendrick, R.E. and Quail, P.H. (1987) Plant Mol. Biol. 9, 97–107.
- [209] Parks, B.M. and Quail, P.H. (1993) Plant Cell 5, 39-48.
- [210] Parks, B.M., Shanklin, J., Koornneef, M., Kendrick, R.E. and Quail, P.H. (1989) Plant Mol. Biol. 12, 425–437.
- [211] Partis, M.D. and Grimm, R. (1990) Z. Naturforsch. 45c, 987-998.
- [212] Peters, J.L. (1992) Photomorphogenetic Mutants of Higher Plants. Ph.D. Thesis, 117 p. Wageningen Agricultural Univ., Wageningen.
- [213] Pratt, L.H. (1975) Photochem. Photobiol. 22, 33-36.
- [214] Pratt, L.H. (1982) Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 33, 557-582.
- [215] Pratt, L.H. (1986) in Photomorphogenesis in plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 61-81, Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- [216] Pratt, L.H. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 163–186, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [217] Pratt, L.H. and Butler, W.L. (1970) Photochem. Photobiol. 11, 361-369.
- [218] Pratt, L.H., Cordonnier-Pratt, M.-M., Hauser, B., Kochert, G. and Caboche, M. (1994) Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20-25, 1994, Abstract 1057.
- [219] Pratt, L.H., Cordonnier M.-M., Wang, Y.-C., Stewart, S.J. and Moyer, M. (1991) in Phytochrome Properties and Biological Action (Thomas, B. and Johnson, C.B., eds.), 50, pp. 39–55, NATO ASI series H: Cell Biology, Springer, Berlin.
- [220] Pratt, L.H., Inoue, Y. and Furuya, M. (1984) Photochem. Photobiol. 39, 241-246.
- [221] Pratt, L.H., Shimazaki, Y., Inoue, Y. and Furuya, M. (1982) Photochem. Photobiol. 36, 471–477.
- [222] Quail, P.H. (1991) Annu. Rev. Genet. 25, 389-409.
- [223] Quail, P.H. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 71–104, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [224] Quail, P.H., Briggs, W.R., Chory, J., Hangarter, R.P., Harber, N.P., Kendrick, R.E., Koornneef, M., Parks, B., Sharrock, R.A., Schäfer, E., Thompson, W.F. and Whitelam, G.C. (1994) Plant Cell 6, 468-471.
- [225] Quail, P.H., Schäfer, E. and Marmé, D. (1973) Plant Physiol 52, 128-134.
- [226] Reed, J.W., Fagan, M., Elich, T.D., Nagatani, A., and Chory, J. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11–15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 112.
- [227] Reed, J.W., Nagatani, A., Elich, T.D., Fagan, M. and Chory, J. (1994) Plant Physiol. 104, 1139–1149.
- [228] Reed, J.W., Nagpal, P. and Chory, J. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 833–839.
- [229] Reed, J.W., Nagpal, P., Pool, D.S., Furuya, M. and Chory, J. (1993) Plant Cell 5, 147–157.
- [230] Robson, P.R.H., Whitelam, G.C., Smith, H. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11– 15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 30.
- [231] Robson, P.R.H., Whitelam, G.C., Smith, H. (1993) Plant Physiology 102, 1179–1184.

- [232] Romanowski, M. and Song, P.S. (1992) J. Protein Chem. 11, 139-155.
- [233] Romero, L.C. and Lam, E. (1993) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 1465–1469.
- [234] Romero, L.C., Sommer, D., Gotor, C. and Song, P.-S. (1991) FEBS Lett. 282, 341–346.
- [235] Rospendovski, B.N., Farrens, D.L., Cotton, T.M. and Song, P.-S.(1989) FEBS Lett. 258, 1-4.
- [236] Roux, S.J. (1986) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 115–134, Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- [237] Roux, S.J. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 187–210, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [238] Rüdiger, W. (1986) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 17–33, Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- [239] R\"udiger, W. (1987) in Phytochrome and Photoregulation in Plants (Furuya, M., ed.), pp. 127–137, Academic Press, Tokyo.
- [240] Rüdiger, W. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 803-811.
- [241] Rüdiger, W.. Eilfeld, P. and Thümmler, F. (1985) in Optical Properties and Structure of Tetrapyrroles (Blauer, G. and Sund, H., eds.), pp. 349–366, W. de Gruyter, Berlin.
- [242] Rüdiger, W. and Thümmler, F. (1984) Physiol. Plant 60, 383-388.
- [243] Rüdiger, W. and Thümmler, F. (1991) Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Eng. 30, 1216–1228.
- [244] Rüdiger, W. and Thümmler, F (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 51–70, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [245] Rüdiger, W., Thümmler, F., Cmiel, E. and Schneider, S. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80, 6244–6248.
- [246] Ruzcicska, B.P., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 681–688.
- [247] Sarkar, H.K. and Song, P.-S. (1981) Biochemistry, 20, 4315-4320.
- [248] Sasaki, N., Oji, Y., Yoshizawa, T., Yamamoto, K.T. and Furuya, M. (1986) Photobiochem. Photobiophys., 12, 243-251.
- [249] Sauer, K. and Scheer, H. (1988) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 936, 157-170.
- [250] Savikhin, S., Wells, T., Song, P.S. and Struve, W.S. (1993) Biochemistry 32, 7512–7518.
- [251] Schaffner, K., Braslavsky, S.E. and Holzwarth, A.R. (1990) Adv. Photochem. 15, 229–277.
- [252] Schaffner, K., Braslavsky, S.E. and Holzwarth, A.R. (1991) in Frontiers in Supramolecular Organic Chemistry and Photochemistry (Schneider, H.-J. and Durr, H., eds.), pp. 421–452, Verlag Chemie, Weinheim.
- [253] Scharnagl, C., Cometta-Moroni, C. and Fischer S.F. (1993) J. Quant. Chem. Quant. Biol. Sym. S20, 199–212.
- [254] Scharnagl, C. and Fischer, S.F. (1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 57, 63-70.
- [255] Scheer, H. (1981) Angew. Chemie 93, 230–250: Ang. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 20, 241–260.
- [256] Scheer, H. (1986) in Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology, Vol. 19. Photosynthesis III (Staeheli, L.A. and Arntzen, C.J., eds.), pp. 327–337. Springer, Berlin.
- [257] Scheuerlein, R. and Braslavsky, S.E. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 42, 173-178.
- [258] Scheuerlein, R. and Braslavsky, S.E. (1987) Photochem. Photobiol. 46, 525–530.
- [259] Scheuerlein, R., Inoue, Y. and Furuya, M. (1988) Photochem. Photobiol. 48, 519-524.
- [260] Scheuerlein, R. and Koller, D. (1988) Photochem. Photobiol. 48, 511-518.
- [261] Schinler, U. and Cashmore, A.R. (1990) EMBO J. 9, 3415-3427.
- [262] Schirmer, T., Bode, W. and Huber, R. (1987) J. Mol. Biol. 196, 677–695.
- [263] Schirmer, T., Bode, W., Huber, R., Sidler, W. and Zuber, H. (1985) J. Mol. Biol. 184, 257–277.

- [264] Schmidt, W., Marmée, D., Quail, P. and E. Schäfer (1973) Planta (Berl.) 111, 329–336.
- [265] Scurlock, R.D., Braslavsky, S.E., and Schaffner, K. (1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 57, 690-695.
- [266] Scurlock, R.D., Evans, C.H., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K.A. (1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 58, 106–115.
- [267] Senger, H. (ed.) (1980) Blue Light Sindrom, Springer-Verlag. Berlin.
- [268] Senger, H, (ed.) (1987) Blue light responses: phenomena and occurrence in plants and microorganisms, CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- [269] Senger, H. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 301–326, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [270] Senger, H. and Briggs, W.R. (1981) in Photochemical and Photobiological Reviews, Vol. 6, pp. 1–38, Plenum Press, New York.
- [271] Sharma, R., Lopez-Juez, E., Nagatani, A. and Furuya, M. (1993) Plant Journal 4, 1035-1042.
- [272] Sharrock, R.A. and Quail, P.H. (1989) Genes Devel. 3, 1745-1757.
- [273] Shimazaki, Y., Inoue, Y., Yamamoto, K.T., Furuya, M. (1980) Plant Cell Physiol. 21, 1619–1625.
- [274] Shimazaki, Y. and Pratt, L.H. (1985) Planta 164, 333-334.
- [275] Shropshire, Jr., W., and Mohr, H. (eds.) (1983) Photomorphogenesis. Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology. New Series. Springer. Berlin.
- [276] Siebzehnrubl, S., Fischer, R., Kufer, W. and Scheer, H. (1989) Photochem. Photobiol. 49, 753-761.
- [277] Siebert, F., Grimm, R., Rüdiger, W., Schmidt, G.and Scheer, H. (1990) Eur. J. Biochem. 194, 921–928.
- [278] Sineshchekov, A.V., Koppel, L.A., Sineshchekov, V.A. and Mokronosov, A.T.(1989) Fiziologiya Rastenii (Russ.), 36, 213–221.
- [279] Sineshchekov, V.A. (1988) in Phototrophic microorganisms (Gogotov, I.N., ed.), pp. 82–94. Acad. Nauk USSR, Pushchino, USSR.
- [280] Sineshchekov, V.A. (1994) Photochem. Photobiol. 59, 77-86.
- [281] Sineshchekov, V.A. (1994) J. Photochem. Photobiol. (in press).
- [282] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Akhobadze, V.V. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 743-749.
- [283] Sineshchekov, V.A., Balashov, S.P. and Litvin, F.F. (1981) Biofizika (Russ.) 26, 964–972.
- [284] Sineshchekov, V.A., Balashov, S.P. and Litvin, F.F. (1983) Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR 270, 1231–1235.
- [285] Sineshchekov, V.A., Balashov, S.P. and Litvin, F.F. (1984) Biofizika (Russ.) 29, 993–997.
- [286] Sineshchekov, V.A., Bekasova, O.D. and Muslimov, I.A. (1987) Biofizika (Russ.) 32, 257–262.
- [287] Sineshchekov, V.A., Frances, S. and White, M.J. (1994) J. Photochem. Photobiol. (in press).
- [288] Sineshchekov, V., Lamparter, T. and Hartmann, E. (1994) Photochem. Photobiol. 60, No. 5, 515-520.
- [289] Sineshchekov, V.A., Lapko, V.N., Sineshchekov, A.V., Kozhukh, G.V. and Udal'tsov, A.V. (1990) J. Photochem. Photobiol., 5, 219-229.
- [290] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Litvin, F.F. (1976) Biofizika (Russ.) 21, 313-320.
- [291] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Litvin, F.F. (1977) Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 462, 450-466.
- [292] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Litvin, F.F. (1985) Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR 281, 1471-1474.
- [293] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Litvin, F.F. (1987) Biofizika (Russ.) 32, 540–555.
- [294] Sineshchekov, V.A., Muslimov, I.A. and Bekasova, O.D. (1984) Molekulyarnaya Biologiya (Russ.) 18, 447–456.
- [295] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Rüdiger, W. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 735-742.
- [296] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. Patent No. 1450788, priority of February 2, 1986, USSR Committee of Inventions and Discoveries.
- [297] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1987) Biofizika (Russ.) 32, 110–115.

- [298] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov A.V. (1987) Doklady Acad. Sci. USSR (Russ.) 292, 477–481.
- [299] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1987) Fiziologiya Rastenii (Russ.) 34, 730-741.
- [300] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1987) Fiziologiya Rastenii (Russ.) 34, 832–836.
- [301] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1989) Biofizika (Russ.) 34, 611-617.
- [302] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1989) Photochem. Photobiol., 49, 325-330.
- [303] Sineshchekov, V.A. and Sineshchekov, A.V. (1990) J. Photochem. Photobiol., 5, 197–217.
- [304] Singh, B. and Song, P.-S. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 249– 254.
- [305] Sironval, C., Brouers, M., Michel, J.M. and Kuyper, V. (1968) Photosynthetica 2, 268–287.
- [306] Smith, H. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 815-823.
- [307] Smith, H. (1994) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), pp. 377-416, Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [308] Smith, H., Casal, J.J. and Jackson, G.M. (1990) Plant Cell Environ. 13, 73–78.
- [309] Smith, H. and Fork, D.C. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 599-607.
- [310] Smith, H. and Holmes, M.G. (1977) Photochem. Photobiol. 25, 547–550.
- [311] Smith, H. and Kendrick, R.E. (1977) in Chemistry and Biochemistry of Plant Pigments. Second Edition, V.1 (Goodwin, T.W., ed.), pp. 373-425.
- [312] Smith, H, Turnbull, M. and Kendrick, R.E. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 599-606.
- [313] Smith, H. and Whitelam, G.C. (1990) Plant Cell Environm. 13, 695-707.
- [314] Smith, H., Whitelam, G.C. and McCormac A.C. (1991) In: Phytochrome Properties and Biological Action. NATO ASI series H: Cell Biology, Vol. 50 (Thomas, B. and Johnson, C.B., eds.), pp. 217–236. Springer, Berlin.
- [315] Somers, D.E., Sharrock, R.A., Tepperman, J.M. and Quail, P.H. (1991) Plant Cell 3, 1263–1274.
- [316] Sommer, D, and Song, P.-S. (1990) Biochemistry 29, 1943-1948.
- [317] Sommer, D., Song, P.-S. (1993) Fifth Congress of the European Society for Photobiology, September 19-26, 1993, Marburg, Germany, Abstracts, p.25.
- [318] Song, P.-S. (1983) in The Biology of Photoreception (Edited by D.J. Cosens and D. Vince-Prue), pp. 181–206. Society for Experimental Biology Symposium XXXVI.
- [319] Song, P.-S. (1985) in Sensory Perception and Transduction in Aneural Organisms. (Colombetti, G., Lenci, F. and Song, P.-S., eds.), pp. 47-59, Plenum Press, London.
- [320] Song, P.-S. (1988) J. Photochem. Photobiol., B: Biol. 2, 43-57.
- [321] Song, P.-S. (1994) The Spectrum 7, 2-7.
- [322] Song, P.-S., Chae, G. (1976) J. Lumin. 12/13, 831-837.
- [323] Song, P.-S., Chae, G. and Briggs, W.R. (1975) Photochem. Photobiol. 22, 75–76.
- [324] Song, P.-S., Chae, G. and Gardner, J.D. (1979) Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 575, 479-495.
- [325] Song, P.-S., Chae, G., Lightner, D.A., Briggs, W.R. and Hopkins, D. (1973) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 7892–7894.
- [326] Song, P.-S., Chae, G. and Sun, M. (1976) in Excited States of Biological Molecules (Birks, J., ed.), pp. 262-271, Wiley, London.
- [327] Song, P.-S., Sarkar, H., Kim, I.S. and Poff, K.L. (1981) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 635, 369–382.
- [328] Song, P.-S., Singh, B.R., Tamai, N., Yamazaki, T., Yamazaki, I., Tokutomi, S. and Furuya, M. (1989) Biochemistry 28, 3265-3271.
- [329] Song, P.-S., Tamai, N. and Yamazaki, I. (1986) Biophys. J. 49, 645-649.
- [330] Song, P.-S. and Yamazaki, I. (1987) in Phytochrome and Photoreg-

ulation in Plants (Furuya, M., ed.), pp. 139-156 Academic Press, New York.

- [331] Spruit, C.J.P. (1966) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 120, 186-188.
- [332] Spruit, C.J.P. and Kendrick, R.E. (1972) Planta (Berl.) 103, 319– 326.
- [333] Stockhaus, J., Nagatani, A., Halfter, U., Kay, S., Furuya, M. and Chua, N.H. (1993) Genes Devel. 6, 2364–2372.
- [334] Stoeckenius, W. and Bogomolni, R. (1982) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 51, 587-616.
- [335] Stoeckenius, W. and Lozier, R. (1974) J. Supramol. Struct. 2, 769-774.
- [336] Terry, M.J., Hall, J.L. and Thomas, B. (1992) J. Plant Physiol. 140, 691–698.
- [337] Terry, M.J. and Kendrick, R.E. Proceedings of the 4th International Congress of the International Society for Plant Molecular Biology, Amsterdam, June 20-25, 1994, Abstract No. 1064.
- [338] Terry, M.J., and Lagarias, J.C. (1991) J. Biol. Chem. 266, 22215– 22221.
- [339] Terry, M.J., Wahleithner, J.A., Lagarias, J.C.(1993) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 306, 1–15.
- [340] Thümmler, F., Rüdiger, W., Cmiel, E. and Schneider, S. (1983) Z. Naturforsch. 38c, 359–368.
- [341] Tobin, E.M. and Briggs, W.R. (1973) Photochem. Photobiol. 18, 487-493.
- [342] Tokuhisa, J.G., Daniels, S.M. and Quail, P.H. (1985) Planta 164, 321-332.
- [343] Tokutomi, S., Nakasako, M., Sakai, J., Kataoka, M., Yamamoto, K.T., Wada, M., Tokunaga, F. and Furuya, M (1989) FEBS Lett. 247, 139-142.
- [344] Tokutomi, S. and Mimuro, M. (1989) FEBS Lett. 269, 324-344.
- [345] Tokutomi, S., Mizutani, H., Anni, H. and Kitagawa, T. (1990) FEBS Lett. 269, 341-344.
- [346] Tokutomi, S., Sugimoto, T., and Mimuro, M. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol., 56, 545-552.
- [347] Tomizawa, K.-I., Nagatani, A. and Furuya, M. (1990) Photochem. Photobiol. 52, 265–275.
- [348] Toyama, A., Nakazava, M., Manabe, K., Takeuchi, H., and Harada, I. (1993) Photochem. Photobiol. 57, 391–395.
- [349] Turoverov, K.K. (1969) Optika i spektroskopiya (Russ.) 26, 564– 570.
- [350] VanDerWoude, W.J. (1985) Photochem. Photobiol. 42, 655-661.
- [351] VanDerWoude, W.J. (1987) in Phytochrome and Photoregulation in Plants (Furuya, M.), pp. 249–259. Academic Press, Tokyo.
- [352] Vierstra, R.D. (1993) Plant Physiol. 103, 679-684.
- [353] Vierstra, R.D., Cordonnier, M.-M., Pratt, L.H. and Quail, P.H. (1984) Planta. 160, 521–528.
- [354] Vierstra, R.D. and Quail, P.H. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79, 5272–5276.
- [355] Vierstra, R.D. and Quail, P.H. (1982) Planta 156, 158-165.
- [356] Vierstra, R.D. and Quail, P.H. (1983) Plant Physiol. 72, 264-267.
- [357] Vierstra, R.D. and Quail, P.H. (1983) Biochemistry 22, 2498-2505.
- [358] Vierstra, R.D. and Quail, P.H. (1986) in Photomorphogenesis in Plants (Kendrick, R.E. and Kronenberg, G.H.M., eds.), Martinus Nijhoff, Dordrecht.
- [359] Vierstra, R.D., Quail, P.H., Hahn, T.-R. and Song, P.-S. (1987) Photochem. Photobiol. 45, 429–432.
- [360] Volotovsky, I.D. (1992) Phytochrome regulatory photoreceptor of plants. 168 p. "Navuka i Tekhnika", Minsk, Beloruss.
- [361] Wada, M., Grolig, F. and Haupt, W. (1993) J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol. 17, 3-25.
- [362] Wahleithner, J.A., Li, L. and Lagarias, J.C. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 88, 10387–10391.
- [363] Wang, Y.-C., Cordonnier-Pratt and Pratt, L.H. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 709-716.
- [364] Wang, Y.-C., Cordonnier-Pratt and Pratt, L.H. (1993) Planta 189, 384–390.

- [365] Wang, Y.-C., Cordonnier-Pratt and Pratt, L.H. (1993) Planta 189, 391-396.
- [366] Wei, N, Kwok, S.F., Von Arnim, A.G., Lee, A., McNellis, T.W., Piekos, B. and Deng, X.-W. (1994) Plant Cell 6, 629–643.
- [367] Wendler, J., Holzwarth, A.R., Braslavsky, S.E. and Schaffner, K. (1984) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 786, 213-221.
- [368] Whitelam, G.C. (1993) in Plant Photoreceptors and Photoperception British Photobiology Society, St John's College, Cambridge, September 20-23, 1992, pp. 1-24.
- [369] Whitelam, G.C., Halliday, K. and Koornneef, M. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 122.
- [370] Whitelam, G.C. and Harber, N.P. (1993) European Symposium Photomorphogenesis in Plants. Tirrenia-Pisa-Italy, July 11-15, 1993, Abstracts, p. 37.

- [371] Whitelam, G.C. and Harber, N.P. (1994) Plant Cell Environ. 17, 615-625.
- [372] Whitelam, G.C., Johnson, E., Peng, J., Carol, P., Anderson, M.L., Cowl, J.S. and Harber, N.P. (1993) Plant Cell 5, 757-768.
- [373] Whitelam, G.C., McCormac, A.C., Boylan, M.T. and Quail, P.H. (1992) Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 617-621.
- [374] Whitelam, G. and Smith, H. (1991) J. Plant Physiol. 139, 119-125.
- [375] Wong, Y-S., Cheng, H.-C., Walsh, D.A. and Lagarias, J.C. (1986)J. Biol. Chem. 261, 12089–12097.
- [376] Yoshizawa, T. (1972) in Photochemistry of vision. Handbook of sensory physiology (Dartnall, H.J.A., ed.), Vol.7/1, pp. 146–199. Springer, Berlin.
- [377] Zhang, C.-F., Farrens, D.L., Björling, S.C., Song, P.-S. and Kliger, D.S. (1992) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114, 4569–4580.